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Strong growth, consistently outstanding results and innovations in
technology – these characteristics continue to define Cabcharge. 

Through the Group’s commitment to delivering quality service
and responding to new challenges and opportunities with
vigour: Cabcharge is indeed, well positioned for the future. 
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Melbourne / Sydney Room
Sofitel Sydney Wentworth
61-101 Phillip Street Sydney NSW 2000
Tuesday 18 November 2008 at 11am (Sydney time)

Designed & Produced by Designate Reporting
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HIGHLIGHTS
Operational Highlights
• Acquired further interest in associate,

CityFleet (UK) – now holding 49%

• October 2008 launch of latest technology
contactless pin-pads and new prepaid
Cabcharge cards

• Development of new integrated dispatch
system – Catapult

• Successful tenderer for Taxi Transport
Subsidy Schemes in Queensland and
Northern Territory

• Double – digit growth in core business

• Diversification of income base to include
strong bus business in Australia and taxi
services business in the UK

• Strong foundation for the future

Financial Highlights
• Net profit after tax increased 14 percent 

to $59 million;

• Total revenue increased 15 percent 
to $172.9 million;

• Earnings per share increased 12 percent 
to 50.3 cents;

• Total Turnover increased 12 percent 
to $1.150 billion;

• Earning before Interest and Tax (EBIT)
increased 17 percent to $83.9 million
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HIGHLIGHTS CONT.

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
$m* $m* $m* $m* $m*

Financial Performance
Total Turnover 1149.7 1024.9 883.3 779.3 693.5
Total Revenue 172.9 150.9 130.7 113.5 100.3
EBITDA** 92.2 80.1 62.3 48.1 39.5
EBIT** 83.9 72.0 53.0 36.8 30.6
Net Profit 59.0 51.8 38.0 27.8 23.1

Financial Position
Total Assets Employed 377.7 310.2 229.1 168.9 158.4
Capital and Reserves 263.4 217.6 156.7 140.0 126.7

cents cents cents cents cents

Per Share
Earnings - Basic 50.30 44.90 33.90 24.80 20.60
Earnings - Diluted 50.30 44.90 33.90 24.80 20.60
Ordinary Dividends 34.00 30.00 23.00 17.00 13.75
Net Assets per share (Excluding goodwill) 213.10 185.00 139.10 114.70 106.20

% % % % %

Key Ratios
Earnings per share growth 12 32 37 20 14
Return on Contributed Equity 43 46 53 38 32

* Figures for 2005 to 2008 financial years are expressed on the basis of AIFRS Standards while earlier years are per previous AGAAP

** EBIT and EBITDA are shown with equity accounted share of profit of associate

08098_AR_PP_v6  8/10/08  5:56 PM  Page 4



TOTAL TURNOVER BY TRANSACTION TYPE

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Oct
03

Oct
04

Oct
05

Oct
06

Oct
07

Oct
08

Cabcharge
% Change

All Ordinaries Index
% Change

FIVE YEAR SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE VERSUS ALL ORDINARIES INDEX

2007 2008

PAPER 27%
ELECTRONIC 73%

PAPER 16%
ELECTRONIC 84%

08098_AR_PP_v6  8/10/08  5:56 PM  Page 5



ABOUT CABCHARGE
Established in 1976 as a means for taxi operators and

drivers to manage non-cash fares, today the Cabcharge
electronic payment system is found in over 95 per cent of

Australian Taxis, limousines and water taxis. 
This electronic payment system is also available in some

fleets around the world.
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In Australia, Cabcharge's customer base spans accounts ranging from
large corporations and government bodies to small business and
individuals.

The success of Cabcharge has stemmed from its commitment to look
ahead, seek new opportunities to grow, enhance service levels and set
consistently high standards. This commitment continues to ensure
Cabcharge’s position as a leader in this industry. 

The largest taxi company in Australia, Taxis Combined Services, is a
wholly owned subsidiary of Cabcharge. Cabcharge also owns Combined
Communications Network (CCN), an Australian transport logistics
company that operates the country’s largest fleet of taxis and provides
associated specialist transport services to support owners, operators
and drivers.

Cabcharge holds merchant agreements with a range of taxi companies,
and many of the major taxi companies are shareholders in Cabcharge.

In 2005 Cabcharge, together with ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited
(Singapore), formed a joint venture company, ComfortDelGro Cabcharge
Pty Ltd (CDC) – with ComfortDelGro owning 51 percent and Cabcharge
49 percent of the business. CDC is recognised as the largest private bus
operator in New South Wales and operates under brands that include
Westbus, Hillsbus, Hunter Valley Buses and now Toronto and Morisset
Bus Services.

More recently, Cabcharge has been increasing its overseas presence
with investments in CityFleet UK, Scottish Taxi Companies and Computer
Cab plc in London.

These ventures see Cabcharge well positioned to rapidly expand its
business further throughout the UK and Europe.
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I am pleased to report another excellent set of financial results
for our Company in 2008. Despite the more difficult market

conditions prevailing for much of the year, Cabcharge has shown
the strength of performance that has become its hallmark.

EXECUTIVE
CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

• Net Profit after Tax (NPAT) up 14% to $59 million. 

• Earnings per share (EPS) up 12% to 50.3 cents per share.

In last year’s Annual Report I referred to “our beautiful set of
numbers” when our Company achieved a stellar 36% growth in
profit for 2007 over 2006. The year-on-year growth for 2006 over
2005 had been 37% and the year before that was 20% growth. If
we wish to be harsh critics, the 14% profit growth in the current
year might appear on the modest side.

It seems to me at times that your Company may be a victim of its
own success. The profit growth, in normalised terms, was actually
around 16% in the current year. We consider the result was very
strong indeed. Compound annual growth in NPAT of 20% for the
last 4 years is very strong performance in anyone’s language. 

It came as no surprise to see recent press reports that Cabcharge
was among the top 5 financial results for ASX listed small to 
mid-caps. And that was just our 2008 result. If you look at our
performance over many years, we are basically only matched or
bettered by a few mining stocks.

Fellow shareholders, it has been very disappointing to see the
market value of our Cabcharge shares harshly dealt with during the
2008 financial year. Of course we gain some comfort in the
knowledge that Cabcharge has not been alone. Few ASX200
companies have been spared this year following the USA sub-prime
mortgage contagion. 

Fundamentally, we consider Cabcharge represents a tremendously
attractive stock with good quality defensive earnings streams that
consistently deliver strong growth. We show it year in, year out,
and we are confident 2009 will be another good solid year, despite
the prevailing negative sentiment in the market. While we are
confident in our business, we are not complacent. We know our
business is very strong.

With the strength of our financial performance, your Board set the
dividend for the 2008 financial year at 34 cents per share fully
franked. This is in line with our normal policy to pay out dividends
of around 65 – 70% of profits. The final dividend of 17 cents per
share is payable on 31 October 2008 and the shares traded 
ex-dividend from 23 September.
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Our balance sheet is strong with modest net debt to equity of
around 22%. We had one major investment during the 2008 year
which was the acquisition of a further interest in our associate,
CityFleet (UK) Pte Ltd (“CityFleet”). This was funded by the issue of
3,118,000 shares to ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited
(“ComfortDelGro”) at a cost of $25.3 million. This takes our stake in
CityFleet to 49% while the other 51% is owned by ComfortDelGro.
As this transaction occurred close to end of financial year, the
impact on profit for the year was minimal. Importantly, the
transaction puts us in the position of now having 49% interest in
both our associate companies, CityFleet and ComfortDelGro
Cabcharge Pty Ltd (“CDC”), in both cases partnering with
ComfortDelGro. 

We are very pleased to have a strong leader in the land transport
business, ComfortDelGro of Singapore, as our partner in these
businesses. With the complementary skills each shareholder brings
to the table, these associate companies are stronger businesses. 

The CDC bus and coach business continues to deliver outstanding
results with a NPAT contribution to Cabcharge of $7.1 million in
2008 compared to $5.5 million in 2007 – growth of 29% for the year. 

The CityFleet Taxi services business in the UK delivered profit to
Cabcharge of $2.9 million compared to $2.2 million in 2007 (for an
eight month period). The CityFleet result, while satisfactory, was
not as good as we would have liked. This was due principally to
two factors; the downturn in financial markets in the UK had an
impact on patronage, and the weaker British Pound to Australian
Dollar throughout much of the year was not helpful to us. 

We expect the CityFleet business will benefit from a marked uplift
in patronage arising from the organisation of the London Olympic
Games. In the past, we have seen the evidence of this trend in each
host city for the Olympics in the years of planning and development
leading up to the hosting of the Games. We have every confidence
this trend will continue for London despite the present gloom over
world financial markets.
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Since balance date, CityFleet has purchased Mersey Cabs in
Liverpool for £800,000 (A$1.8 million). This transaction again
demonstrates our vision to expand our operations throughout the
UK. The establishment of sound businesses in the cities where 
we already operate has provided a base to leverage other
opportunities, such as this one, as they arise. Mersey Cabs was
founded in 1958 and operates a radio call centre for 400 licenced
taxis and has a strong corporate and individual client base. 

As I reported in the 2007 Annual Report, last year the Company
undertook a management restructure. I am pleased that this has
continued to facilitate opportunities for staff to demonstrate their
capabilities within their respective divisions and within budgets set
by the Group. It has also enabled the process of succession
planning to be more transparent which is a positive addition to the
Company’s approach to planning for the future. The structure and
operations of the Group are reviewed on a regular basis, including
career development opportunities to retain key staff. 

Cabcharge Payment System
The Cabcharge Payment System performed strongly again in 2008
with turnover growth of 12% to $1,065 million. 

A particularly pleasing aspect of the result was that the core
Cabcharge account sector of the business experienced an acceleration
in annual growth to 8.8% for the current year (up from 6.4% growth
last year). This is our highest yielding sector in the payments business,
and it is most welcome to see this trend emerging. The introduction
of eTicket has been influential, and we expect further growth in the
core Cabcharge accounts as we bring on line some new functionalities
for our Cabcharge cards and eTickets during 2009 financial year. 

Bank Issued Cards continue to see high double-digit growth, year
after year, with 21% growth for the current year. These cards offer
tremendous access to customer business that would otherwise be
paid in cash. We consider cash to be our major competitor in the
market for Taxi fare payments. We constantly strive to identify
opportunities to encourage greater use of cash alternatives for the
security of passengers and drivers. We recently announced a new
Contactless pin-pad to be launched in October 2008. Particularly
exciting is the new functionality it provides for pre-paid cards –
similar to those provided by some major retailers. The system will
also allow community transport groups to issue cards to clients
with an upper limit, helping them provide a more convenient
service, within their budget. 

We have continued to see the success of our 2007 year acquisition
of Europa from technology company, Ingenico of France. By owning
the hardware and software design of the Europa Taxi Meter,
Cabcharge is able to promote the use of integrated meters and to
encourage innovation in the design of Taxi meters by all suppliers.
We have always maintained that meters need to be integrated with
Taxi payments for a range of reasons, such as fraud prevention,
providing the passenger with more detailed trip and location
information, as well as faster transaction processing. We were also
recently granted the Australian distribution rights to the popular
Italian manufactured Digitax meters.

Taxi related services
Taxi services revenue increased by 22 per cent to $71.7 million from
$58.6 million. This is a direct result of the increase in the number of
Taxis on our networks, an increase in the number of Taxi licences
and the full year effect of our 2007 year acquisitions of Newcastle
Taxis in regional New South Wales and Arrow Taxis in Melbourne.

The Cabcharge Group owns Taxi Networks in New South Wales 
and Victoria. The NSW network fleet has grown to 3,334 from
3,200 (4% growth) while the Victorian network fleet grew to 
1,794 from 1,558 (15% growth) including the impact of 130 taxis
from Arrow joining our Melbourne fleet.

On 31 July 2008 we commenced the provision of Bureau Services to
St George Taxis in Sydney. St George have 210 Taxis and are a highly
respected Group particularly in the Southern Shire area of Sydney.

Most states continued to issue unrestricted and wheelchair
accessible vehicle taxi licences throughout the year and we
acquired an additional 13 licences in that period.

In October 2007, Cabcharge launched a luxury limousine service in
Sydney. 13LIMO provides a premium service option to the community
with luxury vehicles, highly experienced chauffeurs and a 24/7 call
centre to handle bookings, allocation of vehicles and support. 
We are currently franchising the 13LIMO brand to Brisbane and
Melbourne, with plans to expand nationally, and also internationally
through our associate company operations. The 13LIMO concept is
planned to provide access booking services for practically all modes
of Ground Transport (including Limousines, Buses, Charter Buses
and People Movers).

Cabcharge was successful in winning both the Queensland &
Northern Territory Government tenders to administer their Taxi
Transport Subsidy Schemes. The Queensland system introduced
during the current financial year is a five year contract, and now
offers smart cards photo ID service. 

We believe that despite the challenges of the global economic
outlook, our industry has traditionally performed well during tough
economic times. We know that more Taxi licences need to be
issued to meet both the growing demands and the provision of
satisfactory service levels to consumers. We understand that the
New South Wales Ministry of Transport is considering methodology
to be used for the issue of further Taxi licences in NSW to meet
growing demands even in this period of economic downturn.

Technology
During the financial year, we continued to invest in the next
generation of fare-paying technology, providing real benefits for
consumers, the Industry and shareholders.

Our new terminals, due to be launched in late October, offer greater
convenience, speed and security for both consumers and drivers. We
believe the technology will help us to grow the overall Taxi payment
market for the benefit of both Cabcharge and the entire Industry.
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The terminals provide the highest level of security to consumers.
They have the highest level of security certification including PCI
PED (PCI Pin Entry Device), EMV Level 1 and Level 2 as well as
MasterCard PayPass and Visa payWave. The contactless cards
enable quicker transactions (tap and go) for consumers and virtually
eliminate the potential for fraudulent “skimming” and “palming”.
This type of technology is at the forefront of world standards for
protecting consumer interests. 

The new system also paves the way for introduction of pre-paid
cards, which we expect will open up new markets such as cards for
children, gift cards and community transport groups. These cards
can be set with an upper limit.

The new terminals can process the full range of credit and debit cards
including Chip and PIN (also known as Pen and PIN) and contactless
cards. They will also support payments initiated from mobile phones
using the emerging Near Field Communications (or NFC) technology. 

Like our existing terminals, the new terminals are fixed to the taxi
allowing an audit trail on any transaction for consumer protection
with GPS co-ordinates of pick-up and drop-off locations. This
provides verification for the consumer against their charge account,
giving added security and peace of mind. We have always believed
that accurate and transparent disclosure of the actual fare payable
is imperative in a business such as ours with a very much global
customer base.

Following a joint development process over the last three years
in the UK we have partnered in the development of a new 
Taxi dispatch system designed by the Industry for the Industry. That
product is known as the Advantage system in the UK and Singapore,
and Catapult in Australia. Our initial pilot installation was in
Newcastle where we had little choice but to quickly push forward
with the installation due to the state of their existing equipment and
lack of spare parts. I am pleased to say that despite a number of

initial problems the system is now achieving a high level of
acceptance. Similarly St George was placed in a difficult situation
and their installation was completed in a few days. Again we had a
variety of technical challenges to meet their specific requirements.

With the co-operation of all in Newcastle and St George we are
delighted with the product and services it will be able to deliver as
we add further layers of technological advancements to the system.
We thank the Newcastle and St George operators, drivers and staff
for their assistance in identifying the inevitable glitches.

The UK roll out to 3000 Taxis in London is now well under way –
after the usual many headaches in developing a complex system
the efforts of the UK, Australian and Singaporean technical teams
are greatly appreciated.

Cabcharge’s investment in the next generation of technology
cements our leadership position and assists us in growing local 
and overseas markets. We will continue to look for ways to increase
the range of payment choices available to consumers and provide 
a more convenient, faster and safer service for our customers.

Associated Companies 
As indicated earlier, our investment in associates is an important
aspect of our business, we expanded our investment in CityFleet
late in the 2008 financial year to now have 49% interest, and CDC
in particular has delivered strong results. 

We now have 49% interest in both our associate companies, with
the other 51% in each case held by ComfortDelGro. Our association
with ComfortDelGro demonstrates a strong mutual alignment of
interest in the global land transport business. ComfortDelGro is now
a substantial shareholder in Cabcharge, with a 7.5% shareholding.
In addition, ComfortDelGro’s Managing Director and CEO, 
Mr Hong Pak Kua, has added valuable experience and expertise 
to our Board since his appointment in December 2006.

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN’S REPORT CONT.
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CDC’s NPAT growth in 2008 of 29% was very pleasing, and shows
the rewards from our investment in this company in 2006 financial
year. The excellent growth in 2008 is due in part to the 2007 year
acquisition by CDC of a Hunter Valley based bus and coach business,
Toronto Buses. Most importantly though is the growth in additional
services on key routes such as the M2 motorway service in Sydney.
The growth in patronage is marked as commuters make the switch
from their private car to comfortable, more economical, quicker and
more environmentally friendly buses. 

The main factors driving this growth on key bus routes are population
growth, fuel and toll costs, road traffic congestion (buses have
their own lanes or T-way sections), higher growth in employment 
in the CBD, and the general cost of living pressures for working
families of high interest rates and hence high mortgage costs.

The CDC bus fleet grew during 2008 from 812 to 870 buses. 

There have been initiatives to improve dwell times of CDC’s 
buses and therefore improve timetable reliability. Pre-purchased
tickets are important to improve the flow of passengers. CDC 
have introduced mobile ticket sellers at major bus stops to speed
up this process. This provides a better, more reliable service to
commuters and also makes CDC a more efficient business.

CDC’s Sydney metropolitan region contracts with the NSW
Ministry of Transport are due for renewal in 2012. We believe our
consistently high benchmarking against contract key performance
indicators will put us in good stead for this renewal. 

Our other associate company, CityFleet, operates a taxi services
business in the UK. We are pleased with the business. Strategically
we consider it important. We were pleased to complete a transaction
with ComfortDelGro for the purchase of an additional 16% of the
shares just prior to the end of June this year. We are confident
CityFleet will provide good returns in the future. As mentioned
earlier, the Olympic Games in London will be the impetus for
growth in Taxi business in the UK, particularly in London. CDC 
also operates a fleet of 34 coaches in the UK under the brand
Westbus. We are confident that this business will also benefit
from increased activity surrounding the preparation for the Games. 

During the year, in CityFleet, we rolled out more than 1,000 EFTPOS
terminals in Aberdeen, Edinburgh and Birmingham. Post balance
date, we have commenced the rollout of a further 3,000 in London.

Outlook
Despite current negative sentiment and global economic conditions,
Cabcharge is confident it will continue to grow through FY09 and
beyond. There continues to be demand for taxis and buses. History
tells us our business has continued to achieve growth during
these times, just at a lower rate. Remember the Chinese proverb
“Be not afraid of growing slowly, be afraid of standing still”.

The Cabcharge business model remains strong. We have consistently
produced excellent results for all stakeholders and demonstrated
our ability to flexibly respond to new challenges and opportunities.
With a strong balance sheet and diversified earnings base, cost
control, credit management and a prudent investment in the future,
Cabcharge is positive about the outlook for the business and looks
forward to further growth in the coming year.

There will be opportunities for further growth through acquisition
both within the Cabcharge controlled business and indirectly,
through our associates. As always we consider such opportunities
on a case by case basis, and by nature we tend to be conservative
in our assessments.

Appreciation
I would like to acknowledge and thank my fellow Board members,
the senior management team and staff of Cabcharge for their
unwavering support and dedication over the year. 

I would also like to thank my joint venture colleagues in Australia,
the UK and Singapore for their contribution to our success.

As always, I recognise the strong support of our Taxi operators and
drivers as they continue to serve the Company and the community
as a whole. 

With a focus on diversification within the passenger transport
sector, cost control, credit management and prudent investment,
Cabcharge remains positive about the future. 

Reg Kermode

Executive Chairman
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CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

Environment
2007 saw the implementation of range of policies to distinguish
Cabcharge as an environmentally sound and responsible company.
During the 2008 financial year, we have continued to carry out this
green plan through the setting, and consequent meeting, of the
following environmental improvements:

• The use of fuel-efficient, stand-by electric Hybrid taxis

• Co-mingled PET and aluminium recycling

• Paper recycling – office paper and non-secure general paper
waste

• Recycling old thinners, old car body parts, and use of recycled
water by TCS Smash Repairs 

• All printers and photocopiers default to monochromatic and
double sided printing

• Newsletter Network News is delivered to many drivers and
operators electronically

To build on these efforts, we have also implemented the following
initiatives during the past year:

• Trialing low voltage fluorescent lights in the workplace

• A ‘lights-off’ policy in workplace bathrooms – supported by
visible signage 

• Upgrading the spray booths at TCS Smash Repairs to reduce
their environmental impact 

• Including Prius cars in the range of vehicles available through
Black Cabs in Melbourne

We continue to encourage operators to convert their taxis to LPG and
currently 98% of taxis supported by our Networks run on LPG.

In the coming year we intend to develop plans for encouraging
greater use of electronic delivery of statements and newsletters in
order to reduce the environmental impact of the current mainly
paper-based system.
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Community
We have a strong interest in developing successful community
relationships and establishing opportunities for partnerships. 

Through our involvement with the Sydney South West Community
Transport Forum, we have been involved in conferences and
workshops as well as supplying transport services. This partnership
with South West Community Transport is funded under the Home
and Community Care Program, with the mission of providing
transport to older and frail persons with moderate, severe or
profound disability, younger persons with moderate, severe or
profound disability, as well as the carers of these people.

In Melbourne, Black Cabs is trialling an Advance Cab Booking
Service in conjunction with local councils and community groups to
meet the special transport needs of their clients.

We recognise our role in providing effective, professional services
to all members of the community, despite the challenges that
individuals may face.

In 2007 we launched a luxury vehicle for our disabled passengers as
part of our commitment to helping to ensure that all our passengers
have access to a similar standard of service. This was a first for the
taxi industry and demonstrated that it is possible to balance the
special needs of our passengers with the business needs of our
operators. During 2008 the size of this fleet more than doubled. 

In addition the number of Wheelchair Accessible Taxis (“WATS
vehicles”) in our NSW fleets increased by more than 10%, well above
the overall fleet growth rate. Response times for WATS vehicles are
now generally as good as they are for other fleet vehicles. 

Safety for drivers and passengers will always be a high priority. We
continue to support and work with the Ministry of Transport and the
NSW Taxi Council on these issues. During the year the number of
safety ranks has been increased and the concept has been
extended to Newcastle. A voucher booking system has also been
established which is designed to help hotels and clubs ensure their
patrons can get home safely. In Melbourne, Black Cabs is
introducing a range of options for driver screens in line with new
Government regulations and upgraded cameras.

Cabcharge recognises the importance of providing our customers with
services that are accessible and efficient. Our website has recently
been upgraded to enable our customers’ access to a range of on-line
services. Through this service, customers can also order new
Cabcharge cards. We have introduced a new phone system to provide
easier access for our customers and to increase overall efficiency.

Our Staff
The skills and commitment of our employees are critical to the
success of Cabcharge. Cabcharge recognises the role that
opportunities for professional development and a supportive
workplace environment plays in attracting and retaining staff. 
We endeavour to encourage a culture based on innovation,
achievement and accountability. 

We have implemented an increased focus on customer service
during the 2008 financial year. To further develop our employee’s
customer liaison skills, we have introduced a range of training and
professional development opportunities. We also offer Customer
Contact traineeships. In addition, we have strengthened the
customer service and account management area and established
dedicated roles and functions for both merchant and corporate
account development. 

We continue to provide other opportunities for career development
for our employees, including access to project-based work. This has
had a positive impact on staff morale and retention, enabling
individuals to develop skills and expertise in areas not previously
experienced in their existing positions.

All staff have access to development courses and additional
training in areas such as computing skills and other areas where
management and staff identify the need for additional support or
training. We recognise the importance of providing and facilitating
a positive work environment for our employees and opportunities
through such initiatives. 

During the year we strengthened our focus on performance-based
plans for management team members with a higher percentage of
their total pay dependent on their achievements and contribution to
the Company’s results. To recognise the vital role our staff play in
the success of Cabcharge, our monthly staff recognition program,
‘Star Award’ seeks to recognise staff performance achievements
and outstanding customer service.

Our Employee Assistance Program has continued with an increased
take-up rate. Its aim is to work with employees to provide early
intervention and support for personal and professional issues,
which may be impacting an employee’s overall wellbeing.
Enhancing employee wellbeing, this program has been used by both
employees and employee family members.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Clockwise from top left:  
Reginald Kermode, 
Ian Armstrong, 
Neill Ford, 
Philip Franet, 
Peter Hyer, 
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Donnald McMichael, 
Neville Wran
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Directors’  Report

Your Directors present their report on the
consolidated entity consisting of Cabcharge
Australia Limited (the Company or Cabcharge)
and the entities it controls (the Group) at the end
of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2008.

Directors
The following persons were Directors of the
Company in office at any time during or since
the end of the year except as otherwise stated:

Mr Reginald Kermode AM MBE
Mr Ian Armstrong
Mr Neill Ford
Mr Philip Franet 
Mr Peter Hyer
Mr Kua Hong Pak
Mr Donnald McMichael
The Hon Neville Wran AC QC (Hon) LLD (Syd)
(Hon) LLD (NSW) FRSA

Reg Kermode 
Executive Chairman 
Chief Executive Officer
Member of the Board since 27 July 1980

Special responsibilities
Member of the Investment Committee

Mr Kermode founded Cabcharge in 1976. 
He is the Deputy Chairman of ComfortDelGro
Cabcharge Pty Ltd, a Director of Cabcharge 
Asia Pte Limited, Director of Computer Cab plc,
London and Director of CityFleet (UK) Pte Ltd. 
Mr Kermode is also a director of other
Cabcharge Group entities. He is a past President
of the New South Wales Taxi Council and retired
Director of the NSW Taxi Industry Association.
He is a Fellow of The Australian Institute of
Company Directors, a Fellow of The Australian
Institute of Management and is a Justice of 
the Peace.

Directorships of other listed public companies
held at any time during the three years to 
30 June 2008 — nil.

Ian Armstrong 
Non-Executive Director
Member of the Board since 17 July 2000

Special responsibilities
Chairman of the Audit, Risk & Nomination
Committee

Mr Armstrong is a Fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Australia. He was 
a partner with PricewaterhouseCoopers for 
23 years of which 15 years were in the field 
of corporate finance.

Directorships of other listed public companies
held at any time during the three years to 
30 June 2008 — nil.

Neill Ford 
Non-Executive Director
Member of the Board since 21 March 1996

Special responsibilities
Member of the Remuneration and Investment
Committees

Mr Ford is the Managing Director of Yellow Cabs
(Qld) Pty Limited and Chairman of Taxis Australia
Pty Limited. He has in excess of 24 years
experience in taxi company management. 
Mr Ford is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors and Fellow of the Australian
Institute of Management.

Directorships of other listed public companies
held at any time during the three years to 
30 June 2008 — nil.

Philip Franet 
Non-Executive Director
Member of the Board since 28 June 1985

Special responsibilities
Member of the Risk Oversight and Management
Committee

Mr Franet was the Chief Executive Officer of
Silver Top Taxi Service Ltd until his retirement 
in 2005. Mr Franet is also the past President 
of Victorian Taxi Association (inc). He has over
30 years experience in the Taxi Industry and 
has consulted to the Emirate of Dubai on the
establishment of a large taxi organisation
including the establishment of charge account
services in Dubai.

Directorships of other listed public companies
held at any time during the three years to 
30 June 2008 — nil.

Peter Hyer
Non-Executive Director
Member of the Board since 25 June 1996

Special responsibilities
Member of the Remuneration and the Audit,
Risk & Nomination Committees

Mr Hyer is the Chairman and Managing Director
of Adelhill Limited – parent entity of Premier
Cabs Pty Limited, Director of Cumberland Cabs
Company Pty Limited, Director of Western
Districts Cabs Company Limited, Director of
Western Districts Cabs (NSW) Pty Limited and
Director of Northern Districts Taxis (Sydney) 
Pty Limited. He is a Fellow of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors.

Directorships of other listed public companies
held at any time during the three years to 
30 June 2008 — nil.

Kua Hong Pak
Non-Executive Director
Member of the Board since 14 December 2006

Mr Kua was appointed Managing Director/
Group Chief Executive Officer of ComfortDelGro
Corporation Limited in 2003. He is also the
Deputy Chairman of SBS Transit Ltd and VICOM
Ltd. Mr Kua also serves on the boards of
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited, PSA
International Pte Ltd, PSA Corporation Limited,
StarHub Ltd and Ringier Print (HK) Limited. 

Prior to this, he was the President/Chief
Executive Officer of Times Publishing Limited. 

He is an Honorary Citizen of Shenyang City,
China. In recognition of his contributions to
community service, he was awarded the Public
Service Medal in 1991 and Public Service Star 
in 1996 by the President of the Republic of
Singapore and re-appointed a Justice of the
Peace in 2005. He was awarded a Medal of
Commendation by the National Trades Union
Congress in 2005. 

Mr Kua holds a Bachelor of Accountancy from
the University of Singapore. He is a Fellow of
the United Nations Asian Institute and a Fellow
of the Singapore Institute of Directors. He also
attended the Advanced Management
Programme at Harvard Business School. 

Directorships of other listed public companies
held at any time during the three years to 
30 June 2008:

Current directorships (companies listed on
the Singapore Stock Exchange) —
ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited — 
from 1 January 2003

SBS Transit Ltd — from 2 May 2002

VICOM Ltd — from 1 May 2003

StarHub Ltd — from 19 November 2001

Previous directorships —
Overseas Union Enterprise Limited from 
31 March 2001 to 19 July 2006

Donnald McMichael
Non-Executive Director
Member of the Board since 25 June 1996

Special responsibilities
Member of the Risk Oversight & Management
Committee

Mr McMichael is a member of the Australian
Institute of Management and Australian Society
of Australian Executives. He is an Associate of
the Australian Institute of Company Directors
and was formerly Chairman of Aerial Taxi Co-Op
Society Limited and a Director of Yellow Cabs
(Canberra) Pty Ltd, and a Director of the
Fundraising Institute of Australia (ACT).

Directorships of other listed public companies
held at any time during the three years to 
30 June 2008 — nil.

Neville Wran 
Non-Executive Director
Member of the Board since 28 November 2000

Special responsibilities
Member of the Audit, Risk & Nomination
Committee

Mr Wran is a Queen’s Counsel. He was Premier
of New South Wales from 1976 until his
resignation in 1986. He is a director of a number
of companies, including ComfortDelGro
Cabcharge Pty Ltd and Tambour Group Limited.
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From 1986 to 1991 he was Chairman of CSIRO.
Mr Wran represented Australia as a Member of
the Eminent Persons Group of APEC (Asia Pacific
Economic Cooperation) from 1993 to 1995. He 
is a Governor of the Australia-Israel Chamber 
of Commerce, Honorary Chairman of the Trans-
Tasman Business Circle, Patron of the Victor
Chang Cardiac Research Institute and Honorary
Trustee of the Lionel Murphy Foundation, and
maintains a broad range of community interests.
He is currently Chairman of Wran Partners Pty
Ltd, corporate advisers.

Directorships of other listed public companies
held at any time during the three years to 
30 June 2008:

Current directorship —
Pluton Resources Ltd — from 14 December 2006

Previous directorships —
Gujarat NRE Resources NL — from 
23 June 2004 (when the company was known 
as Zinico Resources NL) until removal from the
official list of the ASX on 31 March 2008

WebCentral Group Ltd — from 15 February 2005
until removal from the official list of the ASX on
25 September 2006

Wind Hydrogen Ltd — from its listing on the
ASX on 6 September 2007 until Mr Wran’s
retirement as a director on 30 November 2007

Company Secretary
Ms Sharon Doyle held the position of Company
Secretary at the end of the financial year. 
Ms Doyle is admitted as a Solicitor of the
Supreme Court of New South Wales and joined
the Cabcharge group 14 years ago. She was
appointed Company Secretary in 2002 and also
continues her role as Corporate Counsel. 

Principal Activities
The Group primarily is involved in taxi related
services as well as having a significant interest
in bus and coach services through its interest in
an associate.

Operating Results
The Group’s net profit after income tax
attributable to members of Cabcharge Australia
Limited amounted to $59,019,000 (2007:
$51,820,000).

Dividends
Dividends paid or declared for payment since the
end of the previous financial year are as follows:

Cents Paid or 
Date paid or scheduled Type per share declared $000

In respect of the prior year
19 October 2007 Final 15.0 17,597 

In respect of the current year
29 April 2008 Interim 17.0 19,943 
31 October 2008 Final 17.0 20,473 

The 2008 final dividend was declared since the end of the financial year and is payable on 
31 October 2008 with a record date of 29 September 2008.

All dividends are fully franked at a tax rate of 30%.

Review of Operations
A summary of key financial indicators is set out in the table below. Commentary on the results is
included in the Chairman’s report.

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Total revenue ($m) 172.9 150.9 130.7 113.5 100.3 
Profit after tax ($m) 59.0 51.8 38.0 27.8 23.1 
Earnings before interest and tax 
(EBIT — $m) 83.9 72.0 53.0 36.8 30.6 
Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA — $m) 92.2 80.1 62.3 48.1 39.5 
Earnings per share – basic (cents) 50.3 44.9 33.9 24.8 20.6 
Contributed equity ($m) 138.3 113.0 72.4 72.4 71.8 
Capital and reserves ($m) 263.4 217.6 156.7 140.0 126.7 
Total assets employed ($m) 377.7 310.2 229.1 168.9 158.4 
Net assets per share 
(excluding goodwill) (cents) 213.1 185.0 139.1 114.7 106.2 
Return on contributed equity (%) 42.7% 45.8% 52.5% 38.4% 32.2%
Dividend per share (cents) 34.0 30.0 23.0 17.0 13.75 
Dividends paid ($m) 40.4 35.2 25.8 19.1 15.4 
Dividend payout ratio (%) 68.5% 68.0% 67.9% 68.7% 66.7%
Franking account balance at 30% 
tax ($m) 52.4 48.0 42.8 35.8 32.1 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the year under review
except for: — 

the 19 June 2008 acquisition of additional shares in CityFleet (UK) to give Cabcharge a significant
interest in this UK taxi services business. Details of the acquisition, the interest in which is being
equity accounted by Cabcharge, are shown in note 15 within the financial statements. Cabcharge’s
acquisition cost of approximately $25.3m was funded by issue of 3.118m Cabcharge shares.

Events subsequent to balance date
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, 
or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years other than:

Dividend
The Directors have declared a final dividend of 17 cents per share (fully franked) scheduled to be 
paid on 31 October 2008. The record date to determine entitlement to dividend is 29 September 2008.

Future developments
The Directors are of the opinion that the new financial year will be a period of continued growth.
Other than the information disclosed in the review of operations or notes to the financial statements,
further information as to the likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected
results of those operations in subsequent years has not been included in this report because the
Directors believe, on reasonable grounds, that to include such information would be likely to result 
in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.
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Environmental Issues
The Group’s operations are not regulated by any particular and significant environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.

Directors’ Interests in Shares
The relevant interest of each Director in the share capital of the Company at the date of this report is as follows:

Direct Indirect
Note Interest Shares Interest Shares Total

Reg Kermode 1,200,000 — 1,200,000 
Ian Armstrong 250,000 — 250,000 
Neill Ford 1 — 815,000 815,000 
Philip Franet — — — 
Peter Hyer 2 — 1,171,260 1,171,260 
Hong Pak Kua — — — 
Donnald McMichael 3 — 14,000 14,000 
Neville Wran 4 184,800 65,200 250,000 

3,700,260 

1 500,000 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Queensland Taxi Investments Pty Limited in which Mr Ford is a Director and Shareholder; 315,000 Fully Paid
Ordinary Shares held by NL Ford Nominees Pty Ltd Super Fund.

2 166,667 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Windcode Pty Ltd; 1,004,593 Fully Paid Ordinary shares held by Adelhill Limited in which Mr Hyer is
Chairman, Managing Director and Shareholder.

3 14,000 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Donren Holdings Superannuation account

4 65,200 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Isiwood Pty Ltd, in which Mr Wran is a Director and Shareholder

Share Options
No share options were granted during the year and to the date of this report, and there were no options outstanding at the end of the financial year.

Contracts with Directors
There are no contracts –

(i) to which a Director is a party or under which a Director is entitled to a benefit, or

(ii) that confers a right to call for or deliver shares in, or debentures of or interests in a registered scheme made available by the Company or a related
body corporate.

Other Interests
No Director has relevant interests in, or rights or options over debentures, or interests in a registered scheme made available by the Company or a related
body corporate.

Meetings of Directors
The number of Directors’ Meetings which Directors were eligible to attend (including Committee Meetings) and the number attended by each Director
during the year ended 30 June 2008 were:

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

Audit, Risk Risk Oversight
& Nomination Remuneration Investment & Management 

Committee Committee Committee Committee

Number Number Number Number Number
Eligible Number Eligible Number Eligible Number Eligible Number Eligible Number

to Attend Attended to Attend Attended to Attend Attended to Attend Attended to Attend Attended

Reg Kermode 9 9 nm nm nm nm 2 2 nm nm
Ian Armstrong 9 8 2 2 nm nm nm nm nm nm
Neill Ford 9 9 nm nm 1 1 2 2 nm nm
Philip Franet 9 9 nm nm nm nm nm nm 2 2
Peter Hyer 9 9 2 2 1 1 nm nm nm nm
Hong Pak Kua 9 8 nm nm nm nm nm nm nm nm
Donnald McMichael 9 9 nm nm nm nm nm nm 2 2
Neville Wran 9 8 2 2 nm nm nm nm nm nm

nm — not a member of the relevant committee
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Remuneration Report (audited)
a) Details of the Key Management Personnel (“KMP”)
The KMP of the Group include the Directors (as detailed in the beginning of this report) and the following executive officers (including the five most highly
remunerated Company and Group executives): —
Name of KMP Position

John D’Arcy Group General Manager — Cabcharge Operations
Sharon Doyle Company Secretary & Corporate Counsel
Owen Eckford Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Sai Kancharla Deputy Chief Financial Officer
Fred Lukabyo Group Chief Operating Officer — Taxi Operations
Anne Rein Group General Manager — People and Business Improvement
Rob Roozendaal Group General Manager — Information Technology
Andrew Skelton Chief Operating Officer of Black Cabs Combined
Chip Beng Yeoh Chief Financial Officer

The KMP of the Company include the Directors (as detailed in the beginning of this report) and the following executive officers (including the five most
highly remunerated Company and Group executives): —
Name of KMP Position

John D’Arcy Group General Manager — Cabcharge Operations
Sharon Doyle Company Secretary & Corporate Counsel
Owen Eckford Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Sai Kancharla Deputy Chief Financial Officer
Anne Rein Group General Manager — People and Business Improvement
Chip Beng Yeoh Chief Financial Officer

b) Compensation practices
The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of compensation for KMP for the Company and the Group is as follows:

The compensation structure for KMP is based on a number of factors including length of service, particular experience of the individual concerned, and
overall performance of the Company and Group. Contracts for service between the Company or company within the Group and KMP are on a continuing
basis, the terms of which are not expected to change in the immediate future. Upon retirement, KMP are paid employee benefit entitlements accrued to
the date of retirement. KMP are paid a percentage of their salary in the event of redundancy as determined by the Board.

The Group seeks to emphasise payment for results through providing cash bonus reward schemes, specifically the incorporation of incentive payments 
to the Chief Executive Officer based on achievement of profit targets which were fully achieved. These are determined by the Remuneration Committee
from time to time and are approved by the Board. Incentive payments to other KMP are based on individual performance targets which were fully achieved.

The bonuses included in the table of KMP compensation below are based on these targets. The objective of the reward scheme is to reinforce both 
short-term and long-term goals of the Group and to provide a connection of interest between management and shareholders. The bonuses were granted 
on 14 December 2007.

Non-executive Directors receive fees only and are not paid performance based payments.

There are no service agreements and no fixed terms for Executive Directors. For Executive Directors, a base salary package and performance bonus is
determined by the Remuneration Committee and the Board from time to time.

Consequences of performance on shareholders wealth
In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholders wealth, the Remuneration Committee have regard to the following indices in respect
of the current financial year and the previous four financial years.

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Profit after tax ($m) 59.0 51.8 38.0 27.8 23.1 
Dividends paid ($m) 40.4 35.2 25.8 19.1 15.4 
Return on contributed equity (%) 42.7% 45.8% 52.5% 38.4% 32.2%
Change in share price ($4.21) $6.05 $1.86 $1.06 $0.55 

Net profit is considered as one of the financial performance targets in setting the cash performance bonuses. Net profit amounts for years 2004 to 2005
were calculated in accordance with previous Australian GAAP. Net profit amount for 2006 to 2008 has been calculated in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (AASBs). 
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c) KMP compensation
Group

SHORT-TERM BENEFITS POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Cash bonus Super-
Cash salary Non-cash (performance annuation Termination Total Performance

and fees benefits related) contributions benefits 2008 related
2008 YEAR: ($) ($) ($) ($) $ ($) %

Executive Directors
Reg Kermode 1,702,496 47,504 750,000 2,500,000 30%

Non-executive Directors
Ian Armstrong 6,900 83,855 90,755 
Neill Ford 88,853 7,997 96,850 
Philip Franet — 88,725 88,725 
Peter Hyer 88,853 7,997 96,850 
Hong Pak Kua 80,600 — 80,600 
Donnald McMichael 81,399 7,326 88,725 
Neville Wran 96,850 — 96,850 

Other executives
John D’Arcy 279,150 — 20,000 12,877 312,027 6%
Sharon Doyle 417,978 24,521 — 13,129 455,628 — 
Owen Eckford (from 1 September 2007) 211,506 21,871 21,000 19,035 273,412 8%
Sai Kancharla 158,699 — 12,500 82,163 253,362 5%
Fred Lukabyo 371,958 28,818 35,000 14,317 450,093 8%
Anne Rein 217,170 — 35,000 82,830 335,000 10%
Rob Roozendaal 232,520 — 30,000 16,105 278,625 11%
Andrew Skelton 288,361 14,391 16,393 27,252 346,397 5%
Chip Beng Yeoh 418,483 — 10,000 36,425 464,908 2%

Total Group remuneration for 
KMP for 2008 year 4,741,776 137,105 929,893 500,033 — 6,308,807 

2007 YEAR:

Executive Directors
Reg Kermode 1,578,130 21,870 560,000 2,160,000 26%
Ewaz Barukh 359,509 67,974 8,587 2,857,540 3,293,610 

Non-executive Directors
Ian Armstrong 6,900 88,087 94,987 
Neill Ford 44,426 50,561 94,987 
Philip Franet 87,018 87,018 
Peter Hyer 87,144 7,843 94,987 
Hong Pak Kua — 
Donnald McMichael 79,833 7,185 87,018 
Neville Wran 94,987 94,987 

Other executives
John D’Arcy (from 4 May 2007) 39,781 1,756 41,537 
Sharon Doyle 475,524 6,602 12,140 494,266 
Sai Kancharla 136,743 39,597 176,340 
Fred Lukabyo 364,391 8,654 15,600 388,645 
Anne Rein 236,464 64,139 300,603 
Rob Roozendaal 186,370 16,106 202,476 
Andrew Skelton 294,125 14,250 26,217 334,592 
Chip Beng Yeoh (from 26 February 2007) 79,994 3,024 83,018 

Total Group remuneration 
for KMP for 2007 year 4,064,321 119,350 560,000 427,860 2,857,540 8,029,071 
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Company
SHORT-TERM BENEFITS POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Cash bonus Super-
Cash salary Non-cash (performance annuation Termination Total Performance

and fees benefits related) contributions benefits 2008 related
2008 YEAR: ($) ($) ($) ($) $ ($) %

Executive Directors
Reg Kermode 1,702,496 47,504 750,000 2,500,000 30%

Non-executive Directors
Ian Armstrong 6,900 83,855 90,755 
Neill Ford 88,853 7,997 96,850 
Philip Franet — 88,725 88,725 
Peter Hyer 88,853 7,997 96,850 
Hong Pak Kua 80,600 80,600 
Donnald McMichael 81,399 7,326 88,725 
Neville Wran 96,850 96,850 

Other executives
John D’Arcy 279,150 —   20,000 12,877 312,027 6% 
Sharon Doyle 417,978 24,521 —   13,129 455,628 —
Owen Eckford (from 1 September 2007) 211,506 21,871 21,000 19,035 273,412 8% 
Sai Kancharla 158,699 —    12,500 82,163 253,362 5% 
Anne Rein 217,170 —    35,000 82,830 335,000 10% 
Chip Beng Yeoh 418,483 — 10,000 36,425 464,908 2% 

Total Company remuneration 
for KMP for 2008 year 3,848,937 93,896 848,500 442,359  — 5,233,692 

2007 YEAR:

Executive Directors
Reg Kermode 1,578,130 21,870 560,000 2,160,000 26%
Ewaz Barukh 359,509 67,974 8,587 2,857,540 3,293,610 

Non-executive Directors
Ian Armstrong 6,900 88,087 94,987 
Neill Ford 44,426 50,561 94,987 
Philip Franet 87,018 87,018 
Peter Hyer 87,144 7,843 94,987 
Hong Pak Kua — 
Donnald McMichael 79,833 7,185 87,018 
Neville Wran 94,987 94,987 

Other executives
John D’Arcy (from 4 May 2007) 39,781 1,756 41,537 
Sharon Doyle 475,524 6,602 12,140 494,266 
Sai Kancharla 136,743 39,597 176,340 
Anne Rein 236,464 64,139 300,603 
Chip Beng Yeoh (from 26 February 2007) 79,994 3,024 83,018 

Total Company remuneration 
for KMP for 2007 year 3,219,435 96,446 560,000 369,937 2,857,540 7,103,358 
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Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors
The Company has agreed to indemnify the current directors of the Company against all liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a related
body corporate) that may arise from their position as directors of the Company and its controlled entities, except where the liability arises out of conduct
involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses.

The Company has also agreed to indemnify the current directors of its controlled entities for all liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a
related body corporate) that may arise from their position, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The agreement
stipulates that the Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses.

Since the end of the previous financial year the Company has paid insurance premiums, the total of which is not permitted to be disclosed, in respect of
directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expenses’ insurance contracts, for current and former directors and officers, including senior executives of the
Company and directors, senior executives and secretaries of its controlled entities. The insurance premiums relate to costs and expenses incurred by the
relevant officers in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal and whatever their outcome; and other liabilities that may arise from their position,
with the exception of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty or improper use of information or position to gain a personal advantage.

There has been no indemnification of the current auditors, nor have any insurance premiums been paid in respect of the current auditors since the end of
the previous year.

Non-audit services by auditors
Non-audit services provided by KPMG Australia, the auditors of the consolidated entity, were for the provision of taxation compliance services for which
fees were paid or payable of $51,307. Other auditors in the current year performed non-audit services for taxation and related services for which fees 
were paid or payable of $4,319. In 2007, the fee for non-audit services (being taxation and administrative services) was $65,436. 

The board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and in accordance with written advice provided by resolution of
the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise,
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

(i) all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and have been reviewed by the audit committee 
to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

(ii) the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity
for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the company, KPMG Australia, and its related practices for audit and non-audit services provided during the
year are set out in note 31 of the financial statements.

Lead auditor’s independence declaration
The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 24 and forms part of the directors’ report for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

Rounding off
Cabcharge is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the
financial report and the directors’ report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Neville Wran Peter Hyer
Director Director

Dated at Sydney this 29th day of September 2008
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
To: the directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 there have been:

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG

Peter Russell
Partner

Sydney
29 September 2008
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Corporate Governance Statement 
for the year ended 30 June 2008

The Board of Cabcharge Australia Limited is
responsible for the corporate governance of the
Company. This statement reflects the key
features of Cabcharge’s corporate governance
framework. Cabcharge continues to place great
importance on the governance of the Group, as 
it believes that proper governance is vital to 
the overall well being of the Group and the
comprehensive framework that the Board has
adopted reflects Cabcharge’s dedication in this
area. The manner in which the Group is operated,
in accordance with its corporate governance
framework, ensures that Cabcharge not only
allows the Group to operate as efficiently as
possible but also gives it the scope to properly
assess and analyse any risk taking activities 
that may arise from time to time. Cabcharge’s
guidelines and the practices of the Group 
comply with the revised “Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations” published in
2007 by the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX)
Limited’s Corporate Governance Council.

Charter
The Cabcharge Board of Directors
responsibilities and roles are set out in 
the Cabcharge Board Charter. The Board’s
responsibilities include:

• The group’s corporate governance principles,
including the establishment of Committees; 

• Supervision of the Group’s general affairs
and operations by working with
management within the Group to establish
strategic and financial objectives;

• Monitoring the financial and overall
performance of the Group’s management 
in each area;

• Ensuring that the risk management
procedures in place are effective and
operational (including appropriate 
reporting mechanisms);

• Overall control and continuous review of 
the Group’s major capital expenditure and
expansion;

• Review of compliance relating to statutory
requirements, the Company’s constitution
and approval of HR policies;

• Employment of the Chief Executive Officer
and ensuring effective succession plans
relating to senior management personnel.

The Cabcharge Board of Directors, delegate 
to the Chief Executive Officer the authority 
to achieve the Group’s objective of creating 
long term value for its shareholders.

Board Composition
There are currently eight members of the
Cabcharge Board and details of their experience,
qualifications and special responsibilities
(Committee membership) are set out in the
Directors’ Report on page 17.

Independence
In accordance with the ASX’s Corporate
Governance Principles and Recommendations,
the Board continuously assesses the
independence of each Director. The Board
classifies an independent Director to be a
Director that is independent of management, 
in addition to being free of any business or 
other relationship that could materially conflict
or interfere with the exercise of unfettered
judgment. The Board comprises seven 
non-executive Directors and one executive
Director who is the Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman. Of the seven non-executive Directors
the following Directors are considered to be non
independent:

Mr Peter Hyer
Mr Neill Ford 
Mr Hong Pak Kua

When Cabcharge first listed in 1999 
Mr McMichael and Mr Franet were classified 
as non independent Directors. They have both
been retired from their positions within the Taxi
Industry for at least 2 years and although they
have extensive knowledge about the Industry
generally, they do not have any affiliation to any
specific body within the Industry and accordingly
are now independent.

Non-Executive Directors who are not
independent are segregated from operational
management of Cabcharge, in particular it’s
wholly owned Taxi Network subsidiaries. 
The Taxi Industry is a very specialised Industry
and because of the Non-Executive Directors’
commercial knowledge and expertise within the
Taxi Industry and Transport Industry generally,
the Board considers that these Directors are
able to effectively carry out their responsibilities
in accordance with the Board Charter. The other
Non-Executive Directors who are deemed to be
independent are:

Mr Ian Armstrong
The Hon Neville Wran AC QC.

As a result of consideration given by the Board 
it has been determined that neither Mr Wran,
Mr Armstrong, Mr McMichael and Mr Franet
have any relationships which breach the
materiality threshold or that in the context of 
the activities as a whole, none of these
Directors have relationships considered 
to compromise their independence.

In addition, even though it is recommended by
the Guidelines that the roles of Chairperson and
Chief executive Officer should not be exercised
by the same individual, Mr Reg Kermode has
held these positions since 27 July 1980. 
Mr Kermode’s leadership and expertise within
the Taxi and Transport Industries generally along
with his long term vision for Cabcharge has 
seen the Group grow from a small operation 
to a company listed on the Australian Stock
Exchange. The success and continued diversity
and growth of the Group are largely attributable

to Mr Kermode’s performance and vision for 
the Cabcharge Group as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer. Given the overall success 
of the Group the board believes it to be
inappropriate and unnecessary to separate the
roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
at this time.

Disclosure
Cabcharge Directors also have strict obligations
relating to their disclosure of any share trades 
or material contracts or other relationships with
the Group in accordance with the provisions 
of the Corporations Act and Policy guidelines.
Directors must also declare a conflict of interest
where such an interest lies in relation to a
matter before the Board and the guidelines
expressly prohibit a Director taking part in
discussion or voting on an issue in which 
any Director has a conflict of interest.

Education
Directors participate in an induction program
upon appointment and programs of continuing
education are available to ensure that the Board
is kept up to date not only with developments
within the Taxi and Transport industries
generally, but also developments within
statutory and governance guidelines. 
Directors are also entitled to seek independent
professional advice at the expense of Cabcharge
on matters pertaining to their roles of Directors.

Operations and continuous
review
The Board meets regularly with a comprehensive
agenda which is specifically designed for each
meeting to ensure that in addition to regular
operational issues other matters that require
discussion, guidance or review are bought to 
the Board’s attention. Management is invited to
attend Board discussions as and when required.
In addition to the meetings which are allocated
at the commencement of each year, meetings
may be called at any time for discussion on any
issue required. The performance, policies and
practices of the Board and the Group are
reviewed on an annual basis. The reviews 
are considered to be important and informative
to the Board as they are useful tools to assist 
in identifying areas requiring tighter control,
general improvement or an overall review of
specific or general Group Operations.

Appointment of Directors
The Board of Directors in accordance with the
Company’s constitution have developed criteria
for Director appointments, with the criteria
aimed at selecting Directors who are capable 
of contributing to the overall operation of the
Company, have a thorough knowledge of various
aspects of the Industry and are motivated to
perform to the best of their ability whilst serving
Cabcharge as a Director. All Cabcharge directors
must meet the following criteria:
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• Ability to provide and apply expertise to 
the Group’s operations;

• Understand the complexities of the Taxi
Industry and Transport Industry generally;

• Be willing to contribute meaningful and
appropriate input into discussions and
demonstrate decision making skills taking
into account both the present and the future;

• Have a thorough understanding of the
statutory framework of the Taxi and
Transport Industries and the complexities
involved and to be prepared to continuously
be educated;

• Work as a team with other Directors and
management and feel confident to express
their views on any matter relating to the
operations of the Group.

Directors and their terms in office
Name Years

Mr Reg Kermode 28
Mr Phil Franet 21
Mr Donn McMichael 12
Mr Neill Ford 12
Mr Peter Hyer 12
Mr Ian Armstrong 8
Mr Neville Wran 7
Mr Kua Hong Pak 1

Upon selection, a letter of appointment and
welcome is provided to the Director setting out
the terms of the appointment in accordance with
the Company’s constitution including the Board’s
advice as to the amount of time expected of the
Director, Board policies and the Constitution and
other ancillary information. 

A summary of Board policies which are relevant
to the functions and composition of the Board
comprise:

• The Board Charter and approval of all other
Corporate Governance principles;

• Selection of Committees.

Ethical Standards
Share Trading
Cabcharge has in place a Policy concerning
trading in Cabcharge securities by Directors,
officers and employees. The Cabcharge policy 
in relation to the trading of Cabcharge shares
encompasses the following:

• Dealing Rules clearly identifies the
Directors, Officers and employees who are
restricted from trading (Designated Officers);

• Identifies and raises awareness about the
prohibitions under the law and the
requirements of the policy. The policy makes
it clear that it is inappropriate for the
Designated Officer to procure or to trade
when the Designated Officers have 

information relating to the performance of
the Group that have not yet been disclosed
to the public. Designated Officers are also
aware of the need to enforce confidentiality
against external advisors;

• Requires Designated Officers to provide
notification to the Chief Executive Officer
(with the CEO notifying the Board of
Directors);

• Confirmation of any trading;

• Sets out the black out periods;

• Specifies if there is any discretion to permit
trading by Designated Officers in specific
circumstances;

• Specifies whether Cabcharge prohibits
Designated Officers from entering into
transactions in associated products which
operate to limit the economic risk of their
security holdings in the Company.

Code of Conduct
The Cabcharge Board has established a Code 
of Conduct to guide its Directors, the Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer 
and its key executives in relation to:

• The practices necessary to maintain
confidence in Cabcharge’s integrity;

• The responsibility and accountability of
individuals for reporting and investigating
reports of unethical practices.

The Cabcharge Board has established a Code 
of Ethics and Conduct which addresses the
following issues:

• Conflicts of interest — managing situations
where the interest of a private individual
interferes or appears to interfere with the
interests of Cabcharge as a whole;

• Corporate opportunities — preventing
Directors and key executives from taking
advantage of property, information or
position or opportunities arising from these
for personal gain or to compete with
Cabcharge;

• Confidentiality — restricting the use of non-
public information except where disclosure
is authorised or legally mandated;

• Fair dealing — by all employees with
Cabcharge’s customers, suppliers,
competitors and employees;

• Protection of and proper use of the
Company’s assets — protecting and
ensuring the efficient use of assets for
legitimate business purposes;

• Compliance with laws and regulations —
active promotion of compliance;

• Encouraging the reporting of
unlawful/unethical behaviour;

• Active promotion of ethical behaviour and
protection for those who report violations 
in good faith.

Remuneration
The Group Governance policy guidelines relating
to remuneration are set out in the Directors’
Report — Remuneration Report.

Company Audit
The Audit Committee charter involves a 
number of policies and practices to ensure the
Committee’s independence and effectiveness.
These include:

• The Committee consists entirely of
independent non executive Directors 
all of whom are financially literate. 
The Chairman of the Audit, Risk and 
Nomination Committee, Mr Ian Armstrong,
has extensive qualifications as a former
partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers;

• The Audit Committee has unfettered access
to the Chief Financial Officer, financial
records of the Group and the Group’s
external Auditors;

• The Risk Management Committee reports
directly to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and also has unfettered access
to the Chief Financial Officer and financial
records of the Group and the external
Auditors;

• The Audit Committee requires confirmation
that the external Auditors meet
Independence standards;

• The Audit Committee may conduct an
investigation into any financial matter as 
it sees fit;

• The Audit Committee also independently
considers compliance and conformity 
of financial statements with current 
accounting standards and the accounting
policies applied.

The Audit Committee meets with the external
Auditor at least twice a year independently of
the Chief Financial Officer and other accounting
management and staff. The Committee is
responsible for the overseeing of management 
in relation to the preparation of the Group’s
financial statements and financial disclosure.
The Audit Committee relies on the information
provided by both the Chief Financial Officer and
the external Auditor.

Auditor
KPMG is the Auditor of the Cabcharge Group 
of Companies and was appointed in 2007.

The audit partner from KPMG will attend the
2008 Annual General Meeting of Cabcharge 
and will be available to respond to shareholder
audit-related questions.

Cabcharge currently requires that the partner
managing the audit for the external Auditor 
be changed after a period of no longer than 
five years.
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Shareholder rights
Cabcharge has a shareholder communication
policy which highlights Cabcharge’s commitment
to transparency in its dealings with shareholders,
analysts, investors and the market generally.
Cabcharge encourages shareholder participation
at shareholder meetings and is committed to
dealing promptly and effectively with shareholder
enquiries. Copies of Board Charters and other
policies approved by the Board are available 
from Cabcharge upon request.

The Cabcharge Annual Meeting is convened 
in accordance with applicable laws and 
rules. Cabcharge encourages shareholders to
participate at the AGM by making comments
and requesting information from Board members
and Cabcharge’s Auditors who attend each
Cabcharge AGM and are available to answer
shareholder questions in relation to audit
procedures and audited accounts.

Cabcharge keeps shareholders informed by
making company announcements as well as
sending the yearly reports. All announcements
are placed on the Cabcharge website after they
have been released to the market.

Corporate Governance
Risk Management
The Risk Management Committee oversees
operational and strategic business decisions,
business continuity, compliance and security
risks assumed by the Group in the course of
carrying on its business. In the first instance 
the Risk Management Committee reports to 
the Audit Committee.

Whilst the Board has final approval of the 
Risk Management policy, the Committee 
is responsible for the drafting of the risk
management policy and procedures and
continuously reviews progress in implementing
management procedures and identifying new
areas of exposure relating to market and 
capital expenditure.

The Committee oversees risk management of
compliance risk through the Group’s Compliance
Risk Management Framework, which provides
for assessment of compliance risks,
implementation of controls, monitoring and
testing of framework effectiveness, and the
escalation, remediation and reporting of
compliance incidents and control weaknesses.

The Group has in place an integrated risk
management framework to identify, assess,
manage and report risks and risk adjusted
returns on a consistent and reliable basis.

Nomination Committee
Due to the size of the Board and Group, it was
determined that the duties of the Nomination
Committee should be incorporated into the 
Audit Committee.

Continuous Disclosure
The Corporations Act 2001 and the ASX Listing
Rules require that a Company discloses to the
market matters which could be expected to have
a material effect on the price or value of the
Company’s securities.

Management procedures are in place throughout
the Group to ensure that all material matters
which may potentially require disclosure are
promptly reported to the Chief Executive Officer,
through established reporting lines. Matters
reported are assessed and, where required 
by the Listing Rules, advised to the market.

The Company Secretary is responsible for
communications with the ASX (and where
appropriate ASIC) and for ensuring that such
information is not released to any person until
the ASX has confirmed its release to the market.
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Income Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue 6 172,938 150,916 114,102 97,293 
Other income 7 76 973 (20) 1 
Processing fees to taxi networks (13,600) (12,249) (22,601) (19,461)
Costs of members taxi related services (29,596) (23,573) (4,321) (1,406)
Employee benefits expenses (30,658) (27,251) (8,045) (6,594)
Administrative expenses (8,818) (7,812) (2,417) (2,770)
Transaction processing expenses (2,410) (3,163) (2,410) (3,163)
Depreciation and amortisation 8 (8,311) (8,028) (5,826) (5,101)
Finance costs 8 (5,324) (3,995) (5,010) (3,679)
Other expenses (4,558) (3,691) (2,454) (1,928)
Share of net profit of associates 15(b) 9,984 7,650 — — 

Profit before income tax expense 79,723 69,777 60,998 53,192 

Income tax expense 9 (20,704) (17,957) (13,974) (12,426)

Profit attributable to members of Cabcharge Australia Ltd 59,019 51,820 47,024 40,766 

Basic earnings per share 28 50.30 cents 44.90 cents
Diluted earnings per share 28 50.30 cents 44.90 cents

The Income Statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 10 24,730 12,269 15,602 5,595 
Trade and other receivables 11 79,303 69,236 68,435 46,836 
Inventories 12 2,172 1,998 290 75 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 106,205 83,503 84,327 52,506

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables 11 11,729 6,929 — — 
Financial assets 13 4,504 5,785 321,778 300,574 
Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method 15 141,948 107,567 — — 
Property, plant and equipment 16 40,152 39,159 21,443 22,370 
Deferred tax assets 17 4,056 4,300 1,034 1,084 
Taxi plate licences 18 48,820 44,907 24,837 21,594 
Goodwill 19 13,231 17,492 6,452 10,778 
Intellectual property 20 7,049 546 2,425 — 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 271,489 226,685 377,969 356,400 

TOTAL ASSETS 377,694 310,188 462,296 408,906 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 21 18,381 18,330 13,237 12,707 
Loans and borrowings 22 52,435 27,663 49,000 23,000 
Current tax liabilities 23 6,038 5,812 6,079 5,757 
Employee benefits 24 4,589 4,516 2,408 2,230 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 81,443 56,321 70,724 43,694 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Non-interest bearing liabilities 25 — — 141,585 122,775 
Loans and borrowings 22 31,750 34,750 31,750 34,750 
Deferred tax liabilities 17 529 947 289 679 
Employee benefits 24 564 559 208 193 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 32,843 36,256 173,832 158,397 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 114,286 92,577 244,556 202,091 

NET ASSETS 263,408 217,611 217,740 206,815 

EQUITY
Share capital 26 138,325 113,068 138,325 135,960 
Reserves 559 1,497 530 1,453 
Retained earnings 124,524 103,046 78,885 69,402 

TOTAL EQUITY 263,408 217,611 217,740 206,815 

The Balance Sheets are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements

Balance Sheets
AS AT 30 JUNE 2008
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Cash Flow Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers and others 1,149,058 1,014,945 1,073,637 966,088 
Payments to suppliers, licensees and employees (1,080,017) (963,575) (1,027,345) (904,120)
Dividends received 2,313 939 13,906 11,131 
Interest received 1,129 1,747 685 929 
Finance costs paid (5,083) (3,658) (4,920) (3,588)
Income tax paid (20,256) (17,852) (20,256) (17,852)

Net cash provided by operating activities 35(a) 47,144 32,546 35,707 52,588

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 16(b) (8,420) (8,911) (4,109) (6,969)
Payments for development of intellectual property (3,838) — (437) — 
Purchase of investments

Taxi licence plates 18(b) (3,954) (21,680) (3,243) (20,793)
Investment in associate (1,284) (483) (1,284) (483)
Net cash payment for investment in subsidiaries 35(b) (2,363) (179) (2,363) (536)
Net cash payment for goodwill and net business assets 35(c) (34) (5,300) — (5,300)
Other investments (3) (1,765) — (1,653)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 754 641 277 11 
Proceeds from sale of investment — 131 — 131 

Net cash (used in) investing activities (19,142) (37,546) (11,159) (35,592)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 26,084 20,000 26,000 20,000 
Repayment of borrowings (4,084) (3,722) (3,000) (2,250)
Dividends paid 27 (37,541) (32,193) (37,541) (32,193)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (15,541) (15,915) (14,541) (14,443)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 12,461 (20,915) 10,007 2,553 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 12,269 33,184 5,595 3,042 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 10 24,730 12,269 15,602 5,595 

The Cash Flow Statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements

08099_FINS_ppv1.1  3/10/08  11:37 AM  Page 31



CA
B

CH
A

RG
E

Annual Report

32
33

Statements of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 

Unissued
Share share Revaluation Retained Total

Notes capital capital reserve 1 earnings equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated
Balance at 1 July 2006 72,431 — 923 83,419 156,773
Gains recognised in equity from available for sale securities — — 820 — 820 
Income taxes relating to items credited to equity — — (246) — (246)

Sub-total — — 574 — 574 
Profit for the period — — — 51,820 51,820 

Total recognised income and expense for the year — — — 51,820 51,820 
Dividends paid during the year — — — (32,193) (32,193)
Shares issued 41,154 — — — 41,154 
Shares unissued at 30 June 2007 as consideration 
for acquisition — 22,375 — — 22,375 
Elimination of treasury shares (22,892) — — — (22,892)

Balance at 30 June 2007 90,693 22,375 1,497 103,046 217,611 
Loss recognised in equity from available for sale securities — — (1,334) — (1,334)
Income taxes relating to items credited to equity — — 396 — 396 

Sub-total — — (938) — (938)
Profit for the period — — 59,019 59,019 

Total recognised income and expense for the year — — — 59,019 59,019 
Dividends paid during the year 27 — — — (37,541) (37,541)
Shares issued 26(b) 47,632 (22,375) — — 25,257 

Balance at 30 June 2008 138,325 — 559 124,524 263,408 

Parent Entity
Balance at 1 July 2006 72,431 — 896 60,829 134,156 
Gains recognised in equity from available for sale securities — — 796 — 796 
Income taxes relating to items credited to equity — — (239) — (239)

Sub-total — — 557 — 557 
Profit for the period — — — 40,766 40,766 

Total recognised income and expense for the year — — — 40,766 40,766 
Dividends paid during the year — — — (32,193) (32,193)
Shares issued 41,154 — — — 41,154 
Shares unissued at 30 June 2007 as consideration 
for acquisition — 22,375 — — 22,375 

Balance at 30 June 2007 113,585 22,375 1,453 69,402 206,815 
Loss recognised in equity from available for sale securities — — (1,318) — (1,318)
Income taxes relating to items credited to equity — — 395 — 395 

Sub-total — — (923) — (923)
Profit for the period — — — 47,024 47,024 

Total recognised income and expense for the year — — — 47,024 47,024 
Dividends paid during the year 27 — — — (37,541) (37,541)
Cancellation of treasury shares (22,892) — — — (22,892)
Shares issued 26(b) 47,632 (22,375) — — 25,257 

Balance at 30 June 2008 138,325 — 530 78,885 217,740 

1 the asset revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets

The Statements of Changes in Equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements
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1. Reporting entity
Cabcharge Australia Limited (the “Company”) is
a company domiciled in Australia. The address
of the Company’s registered office is 
152 Riley Street, East Sydney. The consolidated
financial statements of the Company as at and
for the year ended 30 June 2008 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in
associates and jointly controlled entities. The
Group primarily is involved in taxi related
services (see note 37) and bus and coach
services (through its interest in an associate).

2. Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose
financial report which has been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards (AASBs) (including Australian
Accounting Interpretations) adopted by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB)
and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial
report also complies with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and
interpretations adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board. 

The financial statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 29 September 2008.

(b) Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
available-for-sale financial assets which are
measured at fair value.

The methods used to measure fair values are
discussed further in note 4.

(c) Functional and presentation
currency 

These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Australian dollars, which is the
Company’s functional currency and the functional
currency of the majority of the Group.

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC
Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in
accordance with that Class Order, all financial
information presented in Australian dollars has
been rounded to the nearest thousand unless
otherwise stated. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 
The preparation of financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised and in
any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas
of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements
in applying accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amount recognised
in the financial statements are described in the
following notes:

Note 14 — business combinations
Note 19c — measurement of the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units
Notes 24 and 39 — provisions and
contingencies
Note 36 — financial instruments and financial
risk management

3. Statement of significant
accounting policies

Certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

(a) Basis of consolidation 
(i) Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed when necessary to align them
with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost. 

A list of controlled entities is contained in note
32 to the financial statements.

(ii) Associates (equity accounted 
investees) 

Associates are those entities in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control, over
the financial and operating policies. Associates
are accounted for using the equity method
(equity accounted investees). The consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of
the income and expenses of equity accounted
investees, after adjustments to align the
accounting policies with those of the Group,
from the date that significant influence
commences until the date that significant
influence ceases. When the Group’s share of
losses exceeds its interest in an equity
accounted investee, the carrying amount of that 

interest (including any long-term investments) 
is reduced to nil and the recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has an obligation or has made
payments on behalf of the investee.

In the Company’s financial statements,
investments in associates are classified as
available-for-sale financial assets (see Note 13).

The financial statements or management
accounts of the associate are used by the 
Group to apply the equity method. Reporting
dates of the associate vary from that of the
Group, but management accounts for the 
period to the Group’s balance date are used 
for equity accounting.

Where there has been a change recognised
directly in an associate’s equity, the Group
recognises its share of any changes and
discloses this, when applicable in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on
consolidation 

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised 
income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
gains arising from transactions with equity
accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains, but only 
to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
when the contributed assets are consumed 
or sold by the equity accounted investees or, 
if not consumed or sold by the equity accounted
investee, when the Group’s interest in such
entities is disposed of. 

(iv) Provisional accounting under AASB 3
“Business Combinations” 

The accounting for business combinations
entered into during the previous financial year
had been determined only provisionally due to
the proximity of these transactions to reporting
date. In accordance with AASB 3 Business
Combinations any adjustments required as a
result of the completion of the initial accounting
was recognised within twelve months of the
acquisition date, and from acquisition date.

(b) Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Costs are assigned 
on a first-in, first-out basis and include direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenses. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less the estimated costs of completion and
selling expenses.

Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 
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3. Statement of significant 
accounting policies 
continued

(c) Intangible assets 
(i) Intangible assets acquired separately 
Taxi and other licences acquired separately are
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Taxi
and other licences with finite useful lives are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful 
life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each annual reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Taxi and
other licences with indefinite useful lives are 
not amortised. Each period, the useful lives of
such assets are reviewed to determine whether
events and circumstances continue to support
and indefinite useful life assessment for the
asset. Such assets are tested for impairment 
in accordance with the policy in note 3d below.

(ii) Intangible assets acquired in 
a business combination 

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are identified and recognised
separately from goodwill where they satisfy 
the definition of an intangible asset and their
fair values can be measured reliably. The cost 
of such intangible assets is their fair value at
the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination are
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

Amortisation 
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill,
from the date that they are available for use.

The amortisation rate for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

Intellectual Property 16.67%

Taxi plate licences having a finite life 2.00%

(iii) Goodwill 
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a
subsidiary represents the excess of the cost 
of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
subsidiary recognised at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at
cost and is subsequently measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. When 
the excess is negative (negative goodwill — 
or discount on acquisition), it is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. In respect of equity
accounted investees, the carrying amount of
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of
the investment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated 
are tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is an indication that 
the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset 
in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

(iv) Research and development 
Expenditure on research activities is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period as incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design
for the production of new or substantially
improved products and processes. Development
expenditure is capitalised only if development
costs can be measured reliably, the product or
process is technically and commercially feasible,
future economic benefits are probable, and the
Group intends to and has sufficient resources 
to complete development and to use or sell the
asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the
cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing and
overhead costs that are directly attributable to
preparing the asset for its intended use. Other
development expenditure is recognised in profit
or loss when incurred. 

Capitalised development expenditure is
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

(d) Impairment of tangible and
intangible assets 

Financial 
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any objective
evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is
considered to be impaired if objective evidence
indicates that one or more events have had a
negative effect on the estimated future cash
flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial
asset measured at amortised cost is calculated
as the difference between its carrying amount,
and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of
an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated
by reference to its fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are
tested for impairment on an individual basis. 
The remaining financial assets are assessed
collectively in groups that share similar credit
risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an
available-for-sale financial asset recognised
previously in equity is transferred to profit 
or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost and
available-for-sale financial assets that are debt
securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or
loss. For available-for-sale financial assets that
are equity securities, the reversal is recognised
directly in equity.

Non-financial 
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets have suffered
any impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of 
the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
(including goodwill) are tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is any indication
that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the profit and loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. In respect of other assets, where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount dose not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the profit and loss.
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(e) Leases
As lessor
Lease receivables are carried as a receivable 
at an amount equal to the net investment in 
the lease less specific and collective provisions
and unearned income. Lease receivables are
recognised equal to the present value of the
lease payments including any guaranteed
residual value. Leasing where the Company
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incident to ownership of an asset to the lessee
are classified as finance leases. Interest earned
on finance leases is recognised on a basis
reflecting a constant periodic return based 
on the lessor’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the finance lease. 

As lessee
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
are transferred to entities in the Group are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
capitalised, recording an asset and a liability
equal to the present value of the minimum lease
payments, including any guaranteed residual
values. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
asset is accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the
asset or over the term of the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between the
reduction of the lease liability and the lease
interest expense for the period.

Other leases are operating leases and are not
recognised on the Group’s balance sheet. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where
substantially all the risks and benefits remain
with the lessor, are charged as expense on a
straight line basis in the periods in which they
are incurred.

(f) Finance income and expense 
Finance income comprises interest income on
funds invested (including available-for-sale
financial assets), dividend income, gains on the
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets,
changes in the fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, and gains on
hedging instruments that are recognised in 
profit or loss. Interest income is recognised 
as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective
interest method. Dividend income is recognised
in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right
to receive payment is established, which in the
case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date. 

Finance expenses comprise interest expense 
on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, dividends on preference shares
classified as liabilities, foreign currency losses,
changes in the fair value of financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss, impairment 

losses recognised on financial assets, and losses
on hedging instruments that are recognised in
profit or loss. All borrowing costs are recognised
in profit or loss using the effective interest
method.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported
on a net basis.

(g) Property, plant and equipment 
Freehold land is valued at cost. Buildings and
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment are determined 
by comparing the proceeds from disposal with
the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment are recognised net within “other
income” in profit or loss. When revalued assets
are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation
reserve are transferred to retained earnings. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the consolidated entity and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the income statement during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation 
Property (excluding freehold land), plant and
equipment is depreciated at rates based upon
their expected useful lives using the straight line
method. Leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

The depreciation rates used for each major class
of asset for the current and comparative periods
are:

Buildings 1% to 2.5%

Furniture, fittings, 
plant and equipment 5% to 33%

EFTPOS Equipment 16.67%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reassessed at each reporting date.

(h) Revenue 
Taxi service fee revenue is recognised upon
billing of the service to the customer and is
disclosed net of Goods and Services Tax (“GST”)
and third party credit card commissions, where
applicable.

Members taxi related services consist of taxi
depot and leasing fees billed every 28 days in
advance. Operating revenue receipts relating 
to the period beyond the current financial year
are shown in the Balance Sheet as unearned
revenue under the heading of Current liabilities
— Trade and other payables.

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right 
to a dividend has been established. Dividends
received from associates are accounted for in
accordance with the equity method of accounting.

Rental income from property is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. 

(i) Total turnover 
Total turnover does not represent revenue in
accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards. Total turnover represents the value 
of taxi hire charges (fares) paid through the
Cabcharge Payment System plus Cabcharge’s
account service fee plus revenue from other
sources. Revenue in accordance with Accounting
Standards is discussed at note 3(h). Cabcharge’s
credit risk is based on turnover rather than
revenue. Taxi hire charges are GST inclusive
since the GST is embedded in taxis’ metered
fares and liability for the GST rests with the 
taxi driver.

Payment of fares through the Cabcharge
Payment System involves payment for a taxi
service through a Cabcharge card, docket or 
e-ticket, payment through bank-issued cards
(such as credit cards and bank debit cards), 
and payment through third-party cards (such 
as American Express and Diners Club).

(j) Employee benefits 
Wages, salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities for employee benefits for wages,
salaries and annual leave represent the present
obligations resulting from employees’ services
provided up to reporting date. The provisions
have been calculated at undiscounted amounts
based on expected wage and salary rates that
the Group expects to pay as at reporting date
and include related on-costs, such as workers’
compensation insurance and payroll tax. A
liability is recognised for the amount expected 
to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-
sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Long service leave 
The provision for employee benefits for long
service leave represents the present value of 
the estimated future cash outflows to be made
by the Group resulting from employees’ services
provided up to the reporting date. The provision
is calculated using expected future increases in
wage and salary rates including related on-costs
and expected settlement dates based on
turnover history and is discounted using the
rates attaching to national government bonds 
at reporting date which most closely match the
terms of maturity of the related liabilities. 
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3. Statement of significant 
accounting policies 
continued

Superannuation plans 
The Group contributes to defined contribution
superannuation funds for the benefit of
employees or their dependants on retirement,
resignation, disablement or death. The 
Group contributes a percentage of individual
employees’ gross income and employees may
make additional contributions on a voluntary
basis. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution superannuation funds are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
when they are due.

Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are recognised as an
expense when the Group is demonstrably
committed, without realistic possibility of
withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either
terminate employment before the normal
retirement date or to provide termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination
benefits for voluntary redundancies are
recognised as an expense if the Group has made
an offer encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is
probable that the offer will be accepted, and the
number of acceptances can be estimated reliably.

(k) Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and
deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised directly in equity, 
in which case it is recognised in equity.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance
sheet method, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for 
the following temporary differences: the initial
recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition 
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries and
jointly controlled entities to the extent that 
they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
that are expected to be applied to the temporary
differences when they reverse, based on the
laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future tax profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets
are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised.

The amount of benefits brought to account or
which may be realised in the future is based 
on the assumption that no adverse change 
will occur in income taxation legislation and the
anticipation that the Group will derive sufficient
future assessable income to enable the benefit
to be realised and comply with the conditions of
deductibility imposed by the law. 

Tax consolidation 
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian
resident entities have formed a tax consolidated
group and are therefore taxed as a single entity.
The head entity within the tax consolidated
group is Cabcharge Australia Limited.

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from
temporary differences of the members of the 
tax consolidated group are recognised in the
separate financial statements of the members 
of the tax consolidated group using the ‘group
allocation’ method consistent with UIG 1052 
Tax Consolidation Accounting.
Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses of the subsidiaries is assumed by the
head entity in the tax-consolidated group and
are recognised as amounts payable (receivable)
to (from) other entities in the tax-consolidated
group in conjunction with any tax funding
arrangement amounts.

The tax funding arrangements require payments
to/from the head entity equal to the current tax
liability/(asset) assumed by the head entity and
any tax-loss deferred tax asset assumed by the
head entity, resulting in the head entity
recognising an inter-entity receivable/(payable)
equal in amount to the tax liability/(asset)
assumed. The inter-entity receivable/(payable) 
is at call. 

Contributions to fund the current tax liabilities
are payable as per the tax funding arrangement
and reflect the timing of the head entity’s
obligation to make payments for tax liabilities 
to the relevant tax authorities.

The head entity in conjunction with other
members of the tax-consolidated group, has 
also entered into a tax sharing agreement. 
The tax sharing agreement provides for the
determination of the allocation of income tax
liabilities between the entities should the head
entity default on its tax payment obligations. No
amounts have been recognised in the financial
statements in respect of this agreement as
payment of any amounts under the tax sharing
agreement is considered remote.

(l) Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by
dividing the net profit for the reporting period by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of the company.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net profit
for the reporting period by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding including
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(m) Segment reporting 
A segment is a distinguishable component of the
Group that is engaged either in providing related
products or services (business segment), or in
providing products or services within a particular
economic environment (geographical segment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments. The
Group’s primary format for segment reporting 
is based on business segments. The business
segments are determined based on the Group’s
management and internal reporting structure.

(n) Non-derivative financial
instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise
investments in equity and debt securities, 
trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade
and other payables.

Recognition and derecognition 
Non-derivative financial instruments are initially
measured at cost on trade date, which includes
transaction costs, when the related contractual
rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial
recognition these instruments are measured as
set out below.

A financial instrument is recognised if the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised
if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows
from the financial assets expire or if the Group
transfers the financial asset to another party
without retaining control or substantially all risks
and rewards of the asset. Regular way purchases
and sales of financial assets are accounted for at
trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits
itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
liabilities are derecognised if the Group’s
obligations specified in the contract expire 
or are discharged or cancelled.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management
are included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the statement 
of cash flows. 
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Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market and are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, less any
impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets 
The Group’s investments in equity securities are
classified as available-for-sale financial assets.
Available-for-sale financial assets include the
Group’s investments in equity securities.
Available-for-sale financial assets are reflected
at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value other than impairment
losses and foreign exchange gains and losses on
available-for-sale monetary items are taken
directly to equity. When an investment is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in
equity is transferred to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities are
recognised at amortised cost, comprising
original debt less principal payments and
amortisation.

Share capital 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of ordinary shares and share options are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of
any tax effects.

Repurchase of share capital (treasury
shares) 
When share capital recognised as equity is
repurchased, the amount of the consideration
paid, which includes directly attributable costs,
is recognised as a deduction from equity, net 
of any tax effects. Repurchased shares are
classified as treasury shares and are presented
as a deduction from total equity. When treasury
shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the
amount received is recognised as an increase 
in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit 
on the transaction is transferred to/from
retained earnings.

Dividends 
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the
period in which they are declared.

(o) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised
net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from
the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item 
of the expense. Receivables and payables in the
balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. The
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable
to, the ATO is included as a current asset or
liability in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow
statement on a gross basis, except for the GST
component of investing and financing activities,
which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(p) New standards and
interpretations not yet adopted 

The following standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations have been
identified as those which may impact the 
entity in the period of initial application. They
are available for early adoption at 30 June 2008,
but have not been applied in preparing this
financial report:

• Revised AASB 3 Business Combinations
changes the application of acquisition
accounting for business combinations 
and the accounting for non-controlling
(minority) interests. Key changes include:
the immediate expensing of all transaction
costs; measurement of contingent
consideration at acquisition date with
subsequent changes through the income
statement; measurement of non-
controlling (minority) interests at full 
fair value or the proportionate share of 
the fair value of the underlying net assets;
guidance on issues such as reacquired
rights and vendor indemnities; and the
inclusion of combinations by contract
alone and those involving mutuals. 
The revised standard becomes mandatory
for the Group’s 30 June 2010 financial
statements. The Group has not yet
determined the potential effect of the
revised standard on the Group’s financial
report.

• AASB 8 Operating Segments introduces
the “management approach” to segment
reporting. AASB 8, which becomes
mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2010
financial statements, will require the
disclosure of segment information based
on the internal reports regularly reviewed
by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer 
in order to assess each segment’s
performance and to allocate resources 
to them. Currently the Group presents
segment information in respect of its
business segments (see note 37). The
Group has not yet determined the
potential effect of the revised standard 
on the Group’s disclosures.

• Revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements introduces as a financial
statement (formerly “primary” statement) 
the “statement of comprehensive income”.
The revised standard does not change the
recognition, measurement or disclosure of
transactions and events that are required 
by other AASBs. The revised AASB 101 
will become mandatory for the Group’s 
30 June 2010 financial statements. 
The Group has not yet determined the
potential effect of the revised standard 
on the Group’s disclosures.

• Revised AASB 123 Borrowing Costs
removes the option to expense borrowing
costs and requires that an entity capitalise
borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset as part of the cost of that
asset. The revised AASB 123 will become
mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2010
financial statements and will constitute 
a change in accounting policy for the 
Group. In accordance with the transitional
provisions the Group will apply the revised
AASB 123 to qualifying assets for which
capitalisation of borrowing costs
commences on or after the effective 
date. The Group has not yet determined
the potential effect of the revised standard
on future earnings.

• Revised AASB 127 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements changes the
accounting for investments in subsidiaries.
Key changes include: the remeasurement 
to fair value of any previous/retained
investment when control is obtained/lost,
with any resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss; and the
treatment of increases in ownership
interest after control is obtained as
transactions with equity holders in their
capacity as equity holders. The revised
standard will become mandatory for the
Group’s 30 June 2010 financial statements.
The Group has not yet determined the
potential effect of the revised standard 
on the Group’s financial report.

• AASB 2008-1 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standard — Share-based
Payment: Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations changes the measurement 
of share-based payments that contain 
non-vesting conditions. AASB 2008-1
becomes mandatory for the Group’s 
30 June 2010 financial statements. 
The Group has not yet determined the
potential effect of the amending standard
on the Group’s financial report.
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4. Determination of 
fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies 
and disclosures require the determination of fair
value, for both financial and non-financial assets
and liabilities. Fair values have been determined
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
based on the following methods. Where
applicable, further information about the
assumptions made in determining fair values 
is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset 
or liability.

(i) Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment
recognised as a result of a business combination
is based on market values. The market value of
property is the estimated amount for which 
a property could be exchanged on the date of
valuation between a willing buyer and a willing
seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper
marketing wherein the parties had each 
acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compulsion. The market value of items of plant,
equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on the
quoted market prices for similar items.

(ii) Intangible assets
The fair value of taxi licence plates is based 
on either the market value of the taxi licences
applicable to the region in which the taxi
operates or, where a market value is unable to

be determined, the discounted cash flows
expected to be derived from the use and
eventual sale of the assets. The fair value of
other intangible assets (mainly goodwill) is
based on the discounted cash flows expected 
to be derived from the use and eventual sale 
of the assets.

(iii) Inventories
The fair value of inventories acquired in a
business combination is determined based on its
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion
and sale, and a reasonable profit margin based
on the effort required to complete and sell 
the inventories.

(iv) Investments in equity and debt
securities

The fair value of financial available-for-sale
financial assets is determined by reference 
to their quoted bid price at the reporting date.
Marketable shares included in “Other financial
assets” are traded in an organised financial
market. The net fair value of marketable shares
is determined by valuing them at the current
quoted market sell price. The carrying amount 
of cash, deposits, accounts receivable and
accounts payable approximate net fair value.
Investments in unlisted securities are reflected
at cost — directors appraisals are undertaken
as necessary to reflect substantial changes
affecting the net fair value of investments.

(v) Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables,
excluding construction work in progress, is
estimated as the present value of future cash
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest
at the reporting date.

(vi) Non-derivative financial
liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure
purposes, is calculated based on the present
value of future principal and interest cash 
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest
at the reporting date. In respect of the liability
component of convertible notes, the market rate
of interest is determined by reference to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option.
For finance leases the market rate of interest 
is determined by reference to similar lease
agreements.

(vii) Financial guarantees
For financial guarantee contract liabilities, the
fair value at initial recognition is determined
using a probability weighted discounted cash
flow approach. This method takes into account
the probability of default by the guaranteed
party over the term of the contract, the loss
given default (being the proportion of the
exposure that is not expected to be recovered 
in the event of default) and exposure at default
(being the maximum loss at the time of default).

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

5. Total turnover
1,149,716 1,024,864 1,090,804 970,269 

Total turnover does not represent revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards. Total turnover represents the value of taxi hire charges (fares)
processed through the Cabcharge Payment System including Cabcharge’s account service fee plus all revenue from other sources.

The Cabcharge account service fee income is a commission on taxi hire charges. Cabcharge is responsible for collecting the full amount of taxi hire charges
paid through the Cabcharge Payment System on behalf of taxi operators. Revenue derived from these transactions is disclosed as net service fee rather
than the full amount of service fee income plus taxi fares (see note 6).

Cabcharge assumes the credit risk for the full value of each transaction (i.e. the amount stated above). Credit risk is further discussed at Note 36(c).

Revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards is disclosed at note 6 and the accounting policy at note 3(h).
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

6. Revenue
From operating activities
Taxi service fee income 88,080 78,801 88,080 78,801
Members taxi related services 71,696 58,623 6,169 2,509 
Dividends received
— wholly-owned subsidiaries — — 11,600 10,200 
— other corporations 169 939 2,306 931 
Interest received
— Other persons 1,129 1,747 685 930 
Rental revenue 160 140 102 101 
Other revenue 11,704 10,666 5,160 3,821 

Total operating revenue 172,938 150,916 114,102 97,293 

7. Other income
Gain (loss) on disposal of property plant and equipment 76 90 (20) 1 
Discount on acquisition — 883 — — 

Total other income 76 973 (20) 1 

8. Expenses
Profit before related income tax includes the following expenses:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,011 7,889 5,636 5,101 
Amortisation of intangibles 300 139 190 — 

Total depreciation and amortisation 8,311 8,028 5,826 5,101 

Finance costs
Other persons 5,324 3,995 5,010 3,679 

Employee benefits expense

Included in total employee benefits expense are contributions to defined 
contribution/accumulation type superannuation funds 2,417 2,092 594 567 

9. Income tax expense 
(a) Recognised in the income statements
Cabcharge Australia Ltd and its wholly owned Australian resident subsidiaries 
form a tax consolidated group. The current tax rate applicable to the group is 30%.
Current income tax expense 
Current year 20,737 17,220 14,126 11,664 
Adjustments for prior year (207) (218) (207) (259)

20,530 17,002 13,919 11,405 
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 174 955 55 1,021 

Total income tax expense in the income statements 20,704 17,957 13,974 12,426 

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax profit
Pre-tax profit 79,723 69,777 60,998 53,192 

Prima-facie income tax using the corporate tax rate of 30% (2007: 30%) 23,917 20,933 18,299 15,957 
Add tax effect of:
Non-deductible depreciation 8 8 7 7 
Timing differences and tax losses not brought to account 4 4 — — 
Other non allowable items — 19 — 7 

23,929 20,964 18,306 15,971 
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

9. Income tax expense continued
Less tax effect of:
Rebateable fully franked dividends (4) (4) (3,482) (3,061)
Foreign source dividends not assessable — (225) (643) (225)
Over provision for income tax in prior year (207) (218) (207) (259)
Share of net profit of associate (2,995) (2,295) — — 
Discount on acquisition not assessable — (265) — — 
Other items (19) — — — 

Income tax expense attributable to profit from ordinary activities before income tax 20,704 17,957 13,974 12,426 

Income tax expense 20,704 17,957 13,974 12,426 

Effective tax rate on pre-tax profit 26.0% 25.7% 22.9% 23.4%
(b) Recognised directly in equity
Revaluations of available for sale financial assets (396) 246 (395) 239

10. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank 14,102 8,769 9,511 2,095 
Money market deposits 10,628 3,500 6,091 3,500 

Balance per statement of cash flows 24,730 12,269 15,602 5,595 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities is disclosed at note 36.

11. Trade and other receivables
Current
Trade receivables 62,169 52,715 58,821 46,897 
Finance lease receivables 7,950 5,339 — — 
Accumulated impairment losses (1,072) (1,601) (680) (1,046)

69,047 56,453 58,141 45,851 
Amounts receivable from: 

Wholly owned subsidiaries — — 8,769 — 
Other debtors 10,256 12,783 1,525 985 

Total current 79,303 69,236 68,435 46,836

Non-current
Finance lease receivables 11,729 6,929 — —

Finance lease receivables are due and receivable as follows:
not later than 1 year 7,950 5,339 — — 
later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 11,729 6,929 — — 

19,679 12,268 — — 

Movement in allowance for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year (1,601) (1,243) (1,046) (996)
Doubtful debts (recognised)/derecognised 174 (386) 176 (61)
Amount written off as uncollectable 355 28 190 11 

Balance at the end of the year (1,072) (1,601) (680) (1,046)

Impaired receivables are those receivables for which a specific doubtful debt provision has been recognised. Receivables that are past due but not
impaired are those receivables the directors believe to be fully recoverable and as a result, have not recognised any amount in the doubtful debt provision
for them.

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are disclosed at note 36.
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

12. Inventories
At lower of cost and net realisable value

Parts, safety cameras and sundries — at cost 2,172 1,998 290 75 

13. Financial assets
Market value of listed investments — available-for-sale 

Shares in other listed corporations 2,820 4,105 2,707 4,008 
Unlisted investments — available-for-sale 

Shares in controlled entities — — 193,749 197,779 
Shares in other corporations 1,684 1,680 125,322 98,787 

4,504 5,785 321,778 300,574 

Sensitivity analysis – equity price risk
All of the Group’s listed equity investments are listed on either the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) or the Singapore Stock Exchange (SGX). For such
investments classified as available-for-sale, a 10% increase in the ASX 200 plus a 10% increase in the SGX at the reporting date would have increased
equity by $197,000 after tax (2007: an increase of $287,000); an equal change in the opposite direction would have decreased equity by an equal but
opposite amount. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007.

PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 
$’000 $’000

14. Business combinations
(a) Details of purchase consideration for Shares in controlled entities
Issue of shares
— Issued within the reporting period — 3,287 
— Unissued at the end of the reporting period — 22,375 
Cash component of the offer — 2,482 
Cash payment for costs of acquisition — 536 
Cost of investment previously held — 4 

Total consideration for shares in controlled entities — 28,684 
Other business combination
Cash consideration — 5,300 

Total consideration for all business combinations — 33,984 

(b) Details of business combinations in the prior year
Controlled entities
On 1 March 2007 the Group acquired 100% of the shares in taxi services businesses of Newcastle Taxis Limited & Taxi Services Management Pty Ltd
(“Newcastle”).

On 7 June 2007 the Group acquired 100% of the shares in the taxi services business of Arrow Taxi Services Limited (“Arrow”).

Other business combination
On 27 June 2007 the Group acquired the net business assets of Europa Communications Pty Ltd (“Europa”) — a business unit involved in mobile EFTPOS
technology. The accounting for this business combination had been determined only provisionally in the prior year, and in accordance with AASB 3 Business
Combinations certain adjustments to the allocation of the consideration have been made in the current financial year.
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15. Associated companies
Principal Country of Reporting Carrying amount

Name Activities Incorporation Period Ownership Interest of investment

2008 2007 2008 2007 
% % $’000 $’000

ComfortDelGro Bus & coach
Cabcharge Pty Ltd (“CDC”) 1 services Australia 31 December 49 49 70,660 63,534 

CityFleet (UK) Pte Ltd Taxi related 
services Singapore 31 December 49 33 71,288 44,033 

141,948 107,567 

At the date of the associates’ last reporting period (being 31 December 2007) the carrying amount of the investment in associates was $67,648,949 for
CDC and $45,126,027 for CityFleet (UK) Pte Ltd.
1 CDC owns bus and coach operations in Australia and the United Kingdom.

CONSOLIDATED

2008 2007
$’000 $’000

a. Movements during the year in equity accounted investment in associated companies

Balance at beginning of the financial year 107,567 58,054 
New investments during the year 26,541 37,824 
Previously held investment in CityFleet (UK) Group now reclassified as investment in associate — 4,039 
Share of associates’ profit after income tax 9,984 7,650 
Dividend received from associate (2,144) — 

Balance at end of the financial year 141,948 107,567 

b. Equity accounted profits of associates are broken down as follows:
Share of associates’ profit before income tax expense 14,178 10,950 
Share of associates’ income tax expense (4,194) (3,300)

Share of associates’ profit after income tax 9,984 7,650 

c. Summarised presentation of aggregate assets, liabilities and performance of associates (all 100% figures)
Current assets 66,494 142,504 
Non-current assets 356,253 200,713 

Total assets 422,747 343,217 

Current liabilities (50,456) (132,790)
Non-current liabilities (191,542) (48,291)

Total liabilities (241,998) (181,081)

Net assets 180,749 162,136 

Revenues 358,609 271,839 

Profit after income tax of associates 23,205 19,152 
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

16. Property, plant and equipment
(a) Composition 
Land — at cost 8,647 8,647 2,100 2,100 

Buildings — at cost 8,608 8,604 2,214 2,214 
Accumulated depreciation (1,580) (1,335) (391) (369)

7,028 7,269 1,823 1,845 

Total land and buildings 15,675 15,916 3,923 3,945 

Furniture, fittings, plant and equipment — at cost 28,934 23,916 7,299 6,572 

Accumulated depreciation (19,134) (16,052) (4,456) (3,526)

9,800 7,864 2,843 3,046 

Eftpos equipment — at cost 38,634 34,652 38,634 34,652 
Accumulated depreciation (23,957) (19,273) (23,957) (19,273)

14,677 15,379 14,677 15,379 

40,152 39,159 21,443 22,370 

(b) Movement in carrying amounts

Consolidated
Furniture,

Land & fittings, plant Eftpos
Buildings and equipment equipment Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Movements 2008:
Balance at the beginning of the year 15,916 7,864 15,379 39,159 
Additions 4 5,734 2,682 8,420 
Reclassifications from goodwill — — 1,300 1,300 
Disposals — (716) — (716)
Depreciation expense (245) (3,082) (4,684) (8,011)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 15,675 9,800 14,677 40,152 

Movements 2007:
Balance at the beginning of the year 14,708 6,291 15,289 36,288 
Additions through business combinations 1,444 959 — 2,403 
Other additions — 4,382 4,529 8,911 
Disposals — (554) — (554)
Depreciation expense (236) (3,214) (4,439) (7,889)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 15,916 7,864 15,379 39,159 

Parent Entity
Movements 2008:

Balance at the beginning of the year 3,945 3,046 15,379 22,370 
Additions — 1,024 3,085 4,109 
Reclassifications from goodwill — — 897 897 
Disposals — (297) — (297)
Depreciation expense (22) (930) (4,684) (5,636)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 3,923 2,843 14,677 21,443 
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Furniture,
Land & fittings, plant Eftpos

Buildings and equipment equipment Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

16. Property, plant and equipment continued
Movements 2007:

Balance at the beginning of the year 3,968 1,084 15,289 20,341 
Additions through business combinations — 171 — 171 
Other additions — 2,441 4,528 6,969 
Disposals — (10) — (10)
Depreciation expense (23) (640) (4,438) (5,101)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 3,945 3,046 15,379 22,370 

(c) Note on fair market value of land and buildings
The fair market value of the Group’s land and buildings is assessed to be $26,050,000 based on independent valuations. Valuations of properties located in
Sydney were valued by an independent valuer as at 30 June 2006, the total value of which was $22,250,000. Valuation of the Group’s property located in
Melbourne was valued by an independent valuer as at 30 June 2007 at $2,300,000. In the 2007 financial year, a valuation of $1,500,000 was obtained for a
property in Newcastle, NSW, which was acquired through the Group’s acquisition of Newcastle Taxis Limited. 

The property in Newcastle was valued by Wayne Wotton, FAPI, Registered Valuer No 2221. The property in Melbourne was valued by Simon Fonteyn,
AAPI, Registered Valuer No 6067.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets

Accumulated impairment losses — receivables 322 480 204 313 
Provision for employee entitlements 1,546 1,522 783 726 
Accruals 179 259 47 45 
Higher tax cost bases arising from business combinations 1,890 1,890 — — 
Tax losses 119 149 — — 

Total deferred tax assets 4,056 4,300 1,034 1,084 

Liabilities
Prepayments (281) (303) (62) (58)
Lower tax cost bases arising from business combinations (23) (23) — — 
Revaluations of available for sale financial assets (225) (621) (227) (621)

Total deferred tax liabilities (529) (947) (289) (679)

Net deferred tax asset 3,527 3,353 745 405

Movement in temporary differences:
Consolidated
Movements 2008:

Opening Charged Charged Closing
balance to income to equity Acquisitions balance

Accumulated impairment losses — receivables 480 (158) — — 322 
Provision for employee entitlements 1,522 24 — — 1,546 
Accruals 259 (62) — (18) 179 
Prepayments (303) 22 — — (281)
Higher tax cost bases arising from business combinations 1,890 — — — 1,890 
Lower tax cost bases arising from business combinations (23) — — — (23)
Revaluations of available for sale financial assets (621) — 396 — (225)
Tax losses 149 — — (30) 119 

3,353 (174) 396 (48) 3,527 
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Opening Charged Charged Closing
balance to income to equity Acquisitions balance

Movements 2007:
Accumulated impairment losses — receivables 373 — — 107 480 
Provision for employee entitlements 1,886 (545) — 181 1,522 
Accruals 688 (557) — 128 259 
Prepayments (347) 77 — (33) (303)
Higher tax cost bases arising from business combinations 1,890 — — — 1,890 
Lower tax cost bases arising from business combinations — — (23) — (23)
Revaluations of available for sale financial assets (394) — (227) — (621)
Tax losses 293 (175) — 31 149 

4,389 (1,200) (250) 414 3,353 

Parent Entity
Movements 2008:

Accumulated impairment losses — receivables 313 (109) — — 204 
Provision for employee entitlements 726 57 — — 783 
Accruals 45 2 — — 47 
Revaluations of available for sale financial assets (621) — 395 — (226)
Prepayments (58) (5) — — (63)

405 (55) 395 — 745

Movements 2007:
Accumulated impairment losses — receivables 299 14 — — 313 
Provision for employee entitlements 1,302 (669) — 93 726 
Accruals 665 (620) — — 45 
Revaluations of available for sale financial assets (394) — (227) — (621)
Prepayments (230) 172 — — (58)

1,642 (1,103) (227) 93 405

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

18. Taxi plate licences
(a) Composition 
Indefinite life
Taxi plate licences — perpetual — at cost 46,799 42,845 24,837 21,594 
Accumulated impairment loss — — — — 
Finite life
Taxi plate licences — 50 year renewable — at cost 2,062 2,062 — — 
Accumulated amortisation (41) — — — 
Accumulated impairment loss — — — — 

48,820 44,907 24,837 21,594

The remaining period for amortisation of finite life taxi plate licences is 49 years

(b) Movement in carrying amounts

Balance at the beginning of the year 44,907 19,520 21,594 — 
Additions through business combinations — 2,906 — — 
Additions through settlement of debts — 801 — 801 
Other additions 3,954 21,680 3,243 20,793 
Amortisation (41) — — — 

Balance at the end of the year 48,820 44,907 24,837 21,594 

(c) Impairment testing

Taxi plate licences have been tested for impairment by comparing the carrying value with the market value of the licences at the end of the period less
costs to sell. Market value has been assessed by reference to recent sales activity in the regions in which the taxi licences operate.
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

19. Goodwill
(a) Composition 

Goodwill 13,231 17,492 6,452 10,778 
Accumulated impairment loss — — — — 

13,231 17,492 6,452 10,778 

(b) Movement in carrying amounts

Balance at the beginning of the year 17,492 11,342 10,778 5,506 
Additions through business combinations — 6,150 — 5,272 
Adjustment in respect of prior year business combinations 65 — — — 
Reclassification to intellectual property and property, plant & equipment (4,326) — (4,326) — 

Balance at the end of the year 13,231 17,492 6,452 10,778 

(c) Impairment testing

Goodwill has been tested for impairment as shown in the table below and no impairment losses apply. Assessment of the recoverable amount for each
asset has been performed using a value-in-use calculation. To determine value-in-use, cash flows have been projected for five years based on actual
operating results for the current year (with a conservative nil growth assumption) plus a terminal value after 5 years. A pre-tax discount rate of between 
9 and 10%, as shown in the table below, was applied in determining the recoverable amount of the units. The discount rate was estimated based on an
industry average weighted average cost of capital. The relevant cash generating unit (“CGU”) used in the discounted cash flow calculations comes from 
the operations of (1) Black Cabs Combined Pty Limited (BCC); (2) Combined Communications Network Pty Limited (CCN); or (3) Cabcharge Australia Limited
(CAB) which represent the lowest level within which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Consolidated
Book value Impairment loss

Intangible detail CGU 2008 2007 Discount 2008 2007 
Goodwill $’000 $’000 rate $’000 $’000

Cabcharge account customer acquisitions CAB 2,658 2,658 9% — — 
South Western Cabs taxi customer base CCN 2,600 2,600 9% — — 
ABC Taxis goodwill on acquisition CCN 29 29 9% — — 
Black Cabs’ goodwill on acquisition BCC 6,055 6,055 10% — — 
Newcastle Taxis’ goodwill on acquisition CCN 943 878 9% — — 
Europa business CAB 946 5,272 9% — — 

Goodwill Total 13,231 17,492 — — 

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

20. Intellectual property
Intellectual property at cost 7,307 685 2,614 — 
Accumulated amortisation (258) (139) (189) — 
Accumulated impairment loss — — — — 

7,049 546 2,425 — 

Intellectual property movements in the current year comprise amounts previously classified as Goodwill and now reclassified under Business Combinations
in accordance with AASB 3 (see note 14), plus additions through the current year cash flow.
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

21. Trade and other payables
Trade creditors 6,259 6,547 5,429 5,882 
Other creditors and accruals 8,204 7,846 7,689 1,899 
Amount payable to wholly owned subsidiaries — — — 2,444 
Amount payable to former shareholders of Arrow 119 2,482 119 2,482 
Unearned revenue 3,799 1,455 — — 

18,381 18,330 13,237 12,707 

For more information about the Company’s and Group’s exposure to foreign currency and liquidity risk, see note 36.

22. Loans and borrowings
(a) Composition 
Unsecured loans 3,435 4,625 — — 
Hire purchase liabilities (note 35f) — 38 — — 
Bank bills 80,750 57,750 80,750 57,750 

84,185 62,413 80,750 57,750

(b) Disclosure in the balance sheet
Current liability 52,435 27,663 49,000 23,000 
Non-current liability 31,750 34,750 31,750 34,750 

84,185 62,413 80,750 57,750 

The unsecured loans are at-call and bear variable interest rates (current year at 4.75% to 5.75%). All bank bills are denominated in Australian dollars. 
The bank bills are secured by a registered first mortgage over all commercial properties and first registered charge over the fixed and floating assets 
of the Group. The bank bill facility is a revolving facility and is reviewed annually with the bank. Subject to negotiation at the next review with the bank,
$49m is repayable within 12 months and $31.75m is non-current. Of the non-current portion, $13m is repayable 2010 and $18.75m in 2011 financial year.

For more information about the Company’s and Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk, see note 36.

23. Current tax liabilities
Income tax 6,038 5,812 6,079 5,757

The current tax liability for the Group represent the amount of income taxes payable in respect of current and prior financial periods. 

The Company liability includes the income tax payable by all members for the tax consolidated group.

24. Employee benefits
(a) Composition 
Annual leave provision 3,138 3,109 1,824 1,713 
Long service leave provision 2,015 1,966 792 710 

5,153 5,075 2,616 2,423 

(b) Disclosure in the balance sheet
Short-term provision 4,589 4,516 2,408 2,230 
Long-term provision 564 559 208 193 

5,153 5,075 2,616 2,423

25. Non-interest bearing liabilities — 
within the group — non-current

Amount owing to subsidiary company (see note 33c) — — 141,585 122,775
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
(number) (number) (number) (number)

26. Share capital
(a) Composition and movement in issued capital (number of shares)
Composition of issued capital
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 120,430,683 115,629,477 120,430,683 117,351,447 

Movements in ordinary shares
Number at the beginning of the reporting period 115,629,447 112,233,057 117,351,447 112,233,057 

Issue of shares during the reporting period 4,801,236 5,118,390 4,801,236 5,118,390 

Elimination of treasury shares (note 26(e)) — (1,722,000) — — 
Reversal of last year’s elimination 1,722,000 — — — 
Buy-back and cancellation of treasury shares (1,722,000) — (1,722,000) — 

— (1,722,000) (1,722,000) — 

Number at end of reporting period 120,430,683 115,629,447 120,430,683 117,351,447 

Composition of unissued share capital 
— Newcastle acquisition — 4,236 — 4,236 
— Arrow acquisition — 1,679,000 — 1,679,000 

— 1,683,236 — 1,683,236 

Total issued and unissued share capital at end of reporting period 120,430,683 117,312,683 120,430,683 119,034,683 

2008 2007 2008 2007 
(b) Composition and movement in share capital (dollars) $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Composition of Share Capital
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 138,325 113,068 138,325 135,960 

Movements in Ordinary Shares
Paid up amount at the beginning of the reporting period 113,068 72,431 135,960 72,431 

Issue of shares during the reporting period 47,632 41,154 47,632 41,154 

Unissued share capital re prior year business acquisitions — 22,375 — 22,375 
Reversal of last year’s unissued capital, the shares being issued in the current year (22,375) — (22,375) — 

(22,375) 22,375 (22,375) 22,375 

Elimination of treasury shares (note 26(e)) — (22,892) — — 
Reversal of last year’s elimination 22,892 — — — 
Buy-back and cancellation of treasury shares (22,892) — (22,892) — 

— (22,892) (22,892) — 

Paid up amount at end of reporting period 138,325 113,068 138,325 135,960 

(c) Options over unissued shares
No options were granted during the year and there were no options outstanding at the end of the financial year. 

(d) Terms and conditions applicable to Ordinary Shares
Holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings.
In the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of
liquidation.

(e) Share Buy-Back
Pursuant to a Special Resolution passed at the 2007 Annual General Meeting, the Company made a selective buy-back of 1,722,000 ordinary shares held in
the Company by subsidiary companies, Combined Communications Network Pty Ltd and Arrow Taxi Services Pty Limited. The shares bought back were then
cancelled immediately.

In the prior year accounts, the treasury shares were eliminated. That elimination has been reversed in the current year and replaced by the actual share
buy-back and cancellation transactions.
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2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 

27. Dividends
The following fully franked dividends were paid, franked at a tax rate of 30%

2008 year interim — 17.0 cents per share 19,943 — 
2007 year final — 15.0 cents per share 17,598 — 
2007 year interim — 15.0 cents per share — 17,603 
2006 year final — 13.0 cents per share — 14,590 

Total dividends paid 37,541 32,193 

Dividends cents per share — Paid/Payable
Interim 17.00 15.00 
Final 17.00 15.00 

Total 34.00 30.00 

The final 17.00 cents per share fully franked dividend was declared after balance date and has not been provided for. It is scheduled for payment on 
31 October 2008. The declaration and subsequent payment of dividends has no income tax consequences to the Company. The financial effect of these
dividends have not been brought to account in the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 and will be recognised in subsequent
financial reports.

28. Earnings per share (EPS)
2008 2007

Consolidated profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company (in thousands of AUD) 59,019 51,820 

Weighted average number of fully paid ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculation
of basic EPS (in thousands of shares) 117,381 115,438 

As there are no unexercised options (and there were none in the previous year) the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in
calculation of diluted EPS is the same as for basic EPS.

2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 

29. Dividend franking balance
Balance at the end of the financial year including franking credits arising from income tax payable in respect of the 
financial year. 52,447 48,013 

The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year-end adjusted for:

(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liabilities;

(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year-end;

(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables by the tax consolidated group at the year-end; and

(d) franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends. The impact on the dividend franking
account of dividends proposed after the balance sheet date but not recognised as a liability is to reduce it by $8,774,000 (2007: $7,541,000) In accordance
with the tax consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity in the tax-consolidated group has also assumed the benefit of $52,447,000 (2007:
$48,013,000) franking credits.

The franking balance is disclosed on the income tax paid basis. Therefore, based on a 30% tax rate, fully franked dividends amounting to $122,400,000
could potentially be paid to shareholders. 
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

30. Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) disclosures
a) KMP compensation
Short-term employee benefits — cash salary, fees & non-cash 4,878,881  4,183,671 3,942,833  3,315,881 
Short-term employee benefits — cash bonus 929,893  560,000 848,500 560,000 
Post-employment benefits 500,033  427,860 442,359  369,937 
Termination benefits — 2,857,540 — 2,857,540 

6,308,807 8,029,071 5,233,692 7,103,358 

The Company has taken advantage of the relief provided by Corporations Act Regulation 2M.3.03 and has transferred the detailed remuneration disclosures
to the Directors’ Report. The relevant information can be found in the Remuneration Report within the Directors’ Report.

b) Number of shares held by KMP:
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Cabcharge Australia Ltd and the KMP of the Group, including their
personally related parties, are set out below. No shares were granted during the period as compensation.

Balance Net change Balance Net change Balance at
1 July 2006 2007 year* 30 June 2007 2008 year* end of year

Directors of Cabcharge Australia Ltd
Mr RL Kermode 1,046,849 — 1,046,849 53,151 1,100,000 
Mr IA Armstrong 250,000 — 250,000 — 250,000 
Mr ND Ford 1,334,423 (74,135) 1,260,288 (450,788) 809,500 
Mr PJ Franet 350,370 (350,370) — — — 
Mr PJ Hyer 1,171,260 — 1,171,260 — 1,171,260 
Mr HP Kua — — — — — 
Mr DS McMichael 8,330 (830) 7,500 6,500 14,000 
Mr NK Wran 250,000 — 250,000 — 250,000 
Mr E Barukh 421,107 (421,107) — — — 

Other KMP of the Group
Mr J D’Arcy — — — — — 
Ms S Doyle 2,500 2,000 4,500 700 5,200 
Mr O Eckford — — — — — 
Mr S Kancharla — — — — — 
Mr WF Lukabyo 2,450 — 2,450 — 2,450 
Ms A Rein — 5,000 5,000 — 5,000 
Mr R Roozendaal — 2,353 2,353 — 2,353 
Mr A Skelton — 200 200 — 200 
Mr CB Yeoh — — — — — 

4,837,289 (836,889) 4,000,400 (390,437) 3,609,963 

* Net change refers to shares purchased or sold during the financial year with the exception of Mr Barukh who resigned in 2007 financial year

c) Loans to Directors and other KMP
No loans are made to Directors or other KMP.

d) Other transactions with Directors and other KMP
In the prior year, motor vehicles to the value of $2,379,179 were purchased from Mr N Ford. The contract for supply of motor vehicles is based on normal
commercial terms and conditions. No vehicles were purchased from Mr Ford in the current year.
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31. Remuneration of auditors
Audit services
Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia
Audit and review of financial reports 246,636 140,000 131,123 47,250 

Other auditors
Audit and review of financial reports — 111,699 — 103,950 

Other services
Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia
Taxation services 51,307 38,836 51,307 38,836 

Other auditors
Taxation and administrative services 4,319 26,600 — 26,600 

Total 302,262 317,135 182,430 216,636 

32. Particulars relating to controlled entities 
Group Interest Group Interest

% %
Country of Incorporation 2008 2007 

Combined Communications Network Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Taxi Combined Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Silver Service Taxis Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Yellow Cabs of Sydney Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Cabcharge International Limited Hong Kong 100 100 
Cabcharge New Zealand Limited New Zealand 100 100 
Cabcharge Investments Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Helpline Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Taxi Combined Services (Vic) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
TCS Communications (Vic) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Carbodies Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Combined Network Couriers Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Enterprise Speech Recognition Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Black Cabs Combined Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
North Suburban Taxis Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Yellow Cabs Victoria Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Access Communications Net Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Silver Service (Victoria) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
ABC Radio Taxi Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Voci-Asia Pacific Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
South Western Cabs (Radio Room) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
ComGroup Melbourne Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
135466 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Newcastle Taxis Limited Australia 100 100 
Taxi Services Management Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Arrow Taxi Services Limited Australia 100 100 
EFT Solutions Pty Ltd Australia 100 — 
Cabcharge North America Ltd USA 93 93 

In the financial statements of the Company investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost and investments in associates are accounted for at fair value
and included with other available-for-sale assets. Refer to note 13. The Company has no jointly controlled entities.
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33. Related party information
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to other parties unless
otherwise stated.
Transactions with related parties are as follows —

2008 2007 
Nature of transaction Name Relationship $’000 $’000

(a) Fees paid or payable in Cumberland Cabs Company Pty Ltd, Director related entity (Mr P Hyer) 1,241 1,237 
capacity as taxi company Northern Districts Taxis & Western 

District Taxis (Trading as Premier Cabs)
Queensland Taxi Investment Pty Ltd Director related entity (Mr N Ford) 1,816 1,636 
(Trading as Yellow Cabs)
Combined Communications Network Pty Ltd Related party — subsidiary 6,294 5,125
Black Cabs Combined Pty Ltd Related party — subsidiary 2,399 2,087 
Arrow Taxis Services Limited Related party — subsidiary 308 — 

(b) Fees received or receivable Queensland Taxi Investment Pty Ltd Director related entity (Mr N Ford) 234 179 
for services (Trading as Yellow Cabs)

ComfortDelGro Cabcharge Pty Ltd Associate 414 — 

(c) Loans from subsidiary to the 
parent entity 141,585 122,775 

The loans are from subsidiaries with common directors to Cabcharge. The loans are repayable on demand and are held at face value. The directors have
determined that the loan will not be called upon within the 12 months from reporting date.

(d) Other amounts payable (receivable) by the parent entity to wholly owned subsidiaries (8,769) 2,444 

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

34. Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments contracted for EFTPOS equipment:
Payable not later than 1 year — 1,856 — 1,856 

— 1,856 — 1,856 

35. Notes to the cashflow
(a) Reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities 

with profit from ordinary activities after income tax
Profit from ordinary activities after income tax 59,019 51,820 47,024 40,766 
Non-cash flows in profit from ordinary activities

Depreciation and amortisation 8,311 8,028 5,826 5,101 
Net (profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (39) (90) 20 (1)
Net (profit)/loss on sale of investments — (25) — (25)
Non-cash finance costs 229 245 — — 
Discount on acquisition of subsidiary — (883) — — 
Other non cash items (9) (88) 39 (89)
Share of associated companies net profit after income tax (9,984) (7,650) — — 

Dividend received from associate 2,144 — — — 
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase of subsidiaries — 

(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other debtors (14,868) (18,861) (15,918) 3,063 
(Increase) in inventories (173) (83) (215) — 
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors and accruals 6,900 1,929 (1,638) 6,039 
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions 78 (1,817) 193 (2,229)
Movement in income taxes payable (4,259) (1,150) 322 (1,139)
Movement in deferred tax balances (205) 1,171 54 1,102 

Net cash provided by operating activities 47,144 32,546 35,707 52,588 
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(b) Acquisitions of subsidiaries — cashflow
Cash outflow from investment
Cash component of the offer
Cash consideration 2,363 — 2,363 — 
Costs of acquisition — 536 — 536 
Less: cash held by subsidiary on acquisition — (357) — — 

Net cash payment for investment in subsidiaries 2,363 179 2,363 536 

(c) Other business combination
Acquisition of Europa net business assets — a business unit involved in mobile 
EFTPOS technology

Goodwill — 5,272 — 5,272 
Plant and equipment — 171 — 171 
Inventory — 75 — 75 
Deferred tax asset — 93 — 93 
Provision for employee entitlements — (311) — (311)

Net cash payment — 5,300 — 5,300 

Cash payment in respect of pre-acquisition tax balances of subsidiary acquired 34 —   —   —   

(d) Financial Facilities
Bank Overdraft and Loan Limits
Overdraft facility 1,050 1,050 — — 
Bills facility 31,000 31,000 30,000 30,000 
Tape Negotiation Authority 400 400 — — 
Master Asset Finance Facility 1,000 1,000 — — 
Standby multi-facility 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 

Total Facility 93,450 93,450 90,000 90,000 

Amount used 80,750 57,750 80,750 57,750 

Amount unused 12,700 35,700 9,250 32,250 

(e) Restricted Cash
There was no restricted cash on 30 June 2008.
(f) Hire Purchase Commitments
Minimum payments — 38 — — 
Less future finance charges — — — — 

Total Hire Purchase Liability — 38 — — 

Payable
not later than 1 year — 38 — — 

Total Hire Purchase Liability — 38 — — 
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36. Financial instruments and financial risk management 
(a) Overview
The Company and Group have exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments:
• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• market risk.

This note presents information about the Company’s and Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and processes for measuring
and managing risk, and the management of capital.
(b) Financial risk management objectives
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board has established the
Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies. The committee reports regularly to the Board
of Directors on its activities.
Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company and Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and
to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Company’s and Group’s activities. The Company and Group, through their training and management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined
and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s and Group’s risk management policies and procedures
and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company and Group.
(c) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group and the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s and the Company’s receivables from customers and investment securities. 

Trade and other receivables
The Group has exposures to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date for recognised financial assets at the carrying
amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts of those assets as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.
The Company minimised concentration of credit risk in relation to trade accounts receivable by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers.
However, all the customers are concentrated in Australia.

Credit risk in Trade receivables is managed in the following ways:
— The Risk Management Committee has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before 

the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. 

— Payment terms are 28 days

— A risk assessment process is used for customers over 90 days; and

— Cash or Bank guarantee is obtained where appropriate.

The Company assumes the credit risk for the full value of taxi fares settled through the Cabcharge Payment System (see note 5).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was the sum of cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 10, the total value of trade and
other receivables disclosed in note 11 and other financial assets disclosed in note 13.

The Company and Group have established an allowance for impairment that represents their estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other
receivables and investments. An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from billings. The main component of this allowance is a
collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss
allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.
Ageing of trade and finance lease receivables

2008 YEAR 2007 YEAR

Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Consolidated
Not past due 65,238 110 65,128 57,531 194 57,337 
Past due 1 – 30 days 12,090 113 11,977 4,674 178 4,496 
Past due 31 – 60 days 2,837 131 2,706 1,417 273 1,144 
Past due 61 – 90 days 618 143 475 487 303 184 
Past due over 90 days 1,065 575 490 874 653 221 

81,848 1,072 80,776 64,983 1,601 63,382 

Parent Entity
Not past due 42,697 110 42,587 36,265 194 36,071 
Past due 1 – 30 days 12,017 112 11,905 7,072 178 6,894 
Past due 31 – 60 days 2,818 131 2,687 2,139 273 1,866 
Past due 61 – 90 days 618 143 475 732 183 549 
Past due over 90 days 671 184 487 689 218 471 

58,821 680 58,141 46,897 1,046 45,851 
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Details of the movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and finance lease receivables during the year are provided in note 11.

No credit terms have been re-negotiated with customers.

Collateral is held in the case of finance lease receivables, where the Group holds a lien over the leased asset. The market value of such collateral is not
expected to vary materially from the net investment value of the finance lease receivables.

There has been no change in credit risk policies during the financial year.

Investments
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities.

Guarantees
Company policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries and associates. An associate of the Company (ComfortDelGro
Cabcharge Pty Ltd) has a secured loan facility of $50,000,000 provided by an unrelated financial institution. The Company has guaranteed the loan to the
extent of its 49% ownership interest in the associate. The fair value of the financial guarantee contract is estimated to be zero based on the Directors’
assessment of the probability of a default event. The method used to determine this fair value is disclosed at note 4.
(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group and the Company undertake the following activities to ensure that there will be sufficient funds available to meet obligations:
— Prepare budgeted annual, monthly and daily cash flows,

— Monitor actual cash flows on a daily basis and compare to budgeted daily cash flows,

— Maintain standby money market and commercial overdraft facilities, and

— Maintain committed borrowing facility in excess of budgeted usage levels.

There has been no change in liquidity risk policies during the financial year.
Maturity profile of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities — 

Carrying Contractual 6 months 6 to 12 1 to 2 2 to 5 
amount cashflows or less months years years 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Consolidated
2008 year
Trade and other payables 18,381 18,381 18,381 — — —
Loans and borrowings 84,185 98,758 31,671 33,548 14,569 18,970 

102,566 117,139 50,052 33,548 14,569 18,970 

2007 year
Trade and other payables 18,330 18,330 18,330 — — —
Loans and borrowings 62,413 66,595 17,246 12,271 3,201 33,877 

80,743 84,925 35,576 12,271 3,201 33,877 

Parent
2008 year
Trade and other payables 13,237 13,237 13,237 — — —
Non-interest bearing liabilities 141,585 141,585 — — — 141,585 
Loans and borrowings 80,750 95,323 28,236 33,548 14,569 18,970 

235,572 250,145 41,473 33,548 14,569 160,555 

2007 year
Trade and other payables 12,707 12,707 12,707 — — —
Non-interest bearing liabilities 122,775 122,775 — — — 122,775 
Loans and borrowings 57,750 61,619 12,271 12,271 3,201 33,877 

193,232 197,101 24,978 12,271 3,201 156,652 

Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 8 weeks, including the servicing of
financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. In
addition, the Group maintains lines of credit as detailed in note 35d.

08099_FINS_ppv1.1  3/10/08  11:37 AM  Page 55



CA
B

CH
A

RG
E

Annual Report

Notes to the Financial Statements continued

56
57

36. Financial instruments and financial risk management continued
(e) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimising the return.

i) Currency risk
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange risk in respect of the Company and the entities it controls. The Group does have an available-
for-sale investment denominated in Singapore Dollars (SGD) to which a currency risk applies. The Company’s associate company, CityFleet (UK) Pte Ltd,
conducts its operations in the United Kingdom and its transactions are denominated in Great British Pounds (GBP). These transactions are presented in the
associate’s financial statements in SGD. For equity accounting purposes the Group translates its share of profits into Australian Dollars (AUD) based on
average monthly exchange rates.

Sensitivity analysis
In relation to the available-for-sale investment denominated in SGD, a 10 percent strengthening of the AUD against the SGD would have decreased equity
by $161,000 net of tax (2007: $236,000 net of tax) for both the Company and the Group. A 10 percent weakening of the AUD against the SGD would have
had an equal but opposite effect. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
A 10 percent strengthening of the AUD against the GBP across the reporting periods would have increased (decreased) equity and profit by the amounts
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis 
for 2007.

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit (286) (217) (214) — 
Equity (286) (217) (214) — 

A 10 percent weakening of the AUD against the GBP would have had the equal but opposite effect to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other
variables remain constant.

ii) Interest rate risk
The principal risk to which financial assets and financial liabilities are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of
financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. The Group adopts a policy of maintaining a mix of fixed and floating interest rates
ranging from three months to three years, to protect part of the loans from exposure to increasing interest rates. 
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s and the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
CARRYING AMOUNT CARRYING AMOUNT

2008 2007 2008 2007 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 19,679 12,268 — — 
Financial liabilities (34,750) (37,750) (34,750) (37,750)

(15,071) (25,482) (34,750) (37,750)

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 24,730 12,269 15,602 5,595 
Financial liabilities (49,435) (24,663) (46,000) (20,000)

(24,705) (12,394) (30,398) (14,405)

Sensitivity analysis
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest rates at the
reporting date would not affect profit or loss.
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Group’s equity by $395,000 (2007: $577,000) and the Company’s
equity by $714,000 (2007: $776,000).

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown
below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis 
for 2007.
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PROFIT OR LOSS EQUITY

100 bp 100 bp 100 bp 100 bp
increase decrease increase decrease

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2008 (455) 455 (455) 455 
2007 (255) 255 (255) 255 

iii) Other market price risk
Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities held for meeting partially the unfunded portion of the Group’s defined benefit obligations.
Management of the Group monitors the mix of debt and equity securities in its investment portfolio based on market indices. Material investments within
the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are approved by the Risk Management Committee.
The primary goal of the Group’s investment strategy is to maximise investment returns in order to meet partially the Group’s unfunded defined benefit
obligations; management is assisted by external advisors in this regard. In accordance with this strategy certain investments are designated at fair value
through profit or loss because their performance is actively monitored and they are managed on a fair value basis.
Details of the sensitivity to market price risk for the Group’s listed equity instruments are provided in note 13.
(f) Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the
business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. The
Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.
The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position. The Group’s target is to achieve a return exceeding its cost of capital; during the year ended 30 June 2008 the return
was 42.7% (2007: 45.8%). In comparison, the weighted average interest expense on interest-bearing borrowings (excluding liabilities with imputed
interest) was 7.1% (2007: 6.5%).
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
(g) Fair values
The fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date are as follows:

2008 YEAR 2007 YEAR

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated
Financial assets
Cash on hand and at bank 14,102 14,102 8,769 8,769 
Money market deposits 10,628 10,628 3,500 3,500 
Receivables 91,032 90,387 76,165 75,763
Investments in associates 141,948 141,948 107,567 107,567 
Other investments 4,504 4,504 5,785 5,785 

262,214 261,569 201,786 201,384 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 18,381 18,381 18,330 18,330 
Loans and borrowings 84,185 82,827 62,413 60,938  

102,566 101,208 80,743 79,268  

Parent
Financial assets
Cash on hand and at bank 9,511 9,511 2,095 2,095 
Money market deposits 6,091 6,091 3,500 3,500 
Receivables 68,435 68,435 46,836 46,836 
Investments 321,778 321,778 300,574 300,574 

405,815 405,815 353,005 353,005 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 13,237 13,237 12,707 12,707  
Loans and borrowings 222,335 220,977 180,525 179,050 

235,572 234,214 193,232 191,757 
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36. Financial instruments and financial risk management continued
Interest rates used for determining fair value
The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the government yield curve at the reporting date plus an
adequate credit spread, and were as follows:

2008 2007 

Loans and borrowings 6.4% to 8.7% 6.4% to 7.0%
Finance lease receivables 9.5% to 11.5% 9.5% to 11.5%

37. Segment reporting
The Group operates predominantly in one business and geographic segment being the provision of taxi related services in Australia. However, an associate
company which is equity accounted by Cabcharge operates in a different business segment — being the provision of bus and coach services to customers
in Australia.

TAXI RELATED SERVICES BUS & COACH SERVICES CONSOLIDATED 

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Primary reporting — business segments $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue
External revenue 172,938 150,916 — — 172,938 150,916 

Result
Reported result 73,934 64,375 — — 73,934 64,375 
Share of net profit of associates 2,858 2,170 7,126 5,480 9,984 7,650 

Segment result 76,792 66,545 7,126 5,480 83,918 72,025 

Net finance costs (4,195) (2,248)
Income tax expense (20,704) (17,957)

Profit for the period 59,019 51,820 

Other disclosures
Segment assets 235,746 202,621 — — 235,746 202,621 
Segment liabilities 74,286 41,667 40,000 40,000 114,286 81,667 
Other-investments accounted for using 
the equity method 71,288 44,003 70,660 63,534 141,948 107,567 
Depreciation and amortisation 8,311 8,028 — — 8,311 8,028 

38. Subsequent event
Dividend
The Directors have declared a final dividend of 17 cents per share (fully franked) scheduled to be paid on 31 October 2008. The record date to determine
entitlement to dividend is 29 September 2008.

39. Contingent liability
The Group has no contingent liabilities other than a guarantee in respect of an associate shown in note 36. The fair value of the financial guarantee
contract is estimated to be zero.
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1 In the opinion of the directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited (‘the Company’):

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 29 to 58, and the Remuneration report in the Directors’ report, set out on pages 20 to 22, 
are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2008 and of their performance, for the financial
year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2(a); 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

2 The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the chief executive officer and chief
financial officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Neville Wran
Director

Peter Hyer
Director

Dated at Sydney
29 September 2008.

Directors’ Declaration
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Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of Cabcharge Australia Limited

Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Cabcharge Australia Limited (the Company), which comprises the balance sheets as at 
30 June 2008, and the income statements, statements of changes in equity and cash flow statements for the year ended on that date, a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes 1 to 39 and the directors’ declaration of the Group comprising the company and the 
entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In note 2, the
directors also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial report of the
Group, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001
and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), a view which is consistent with our understanding of the
Company’s and the Group’s financial position and of their performance 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Cabcharge Australia Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2008 and of their performance for the year 
ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2.
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Report on the remuneration report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in sections a) to c) of the “remuneration report” within the directors’ report for the year ended 
30 June 2008. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with 
Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with auditing standards.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report of Cabcharge Australia Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008, complies with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

KPMG

Peter Russell
Partner

Sydney
29 September 2008
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Australian Securities Exchange Information
as at 16 September 2008

(a) Distribution of Shareholders numbers
Range of shareholdings No of Shareholdings Shares % of total

1 – 1000 4,216 2,566,102 2.13
1001 – 5000 4,728 11,554,472 9.59
5001 – 10000 926 6,231,063 5.17
10001 – 100000 727 19,242,565 15.98
100001 and over 91 80,836,481 67.12

Total 10,688 120,430,683 100 

(b) The number of Shareholdings held in less than marketable parcels is 125

(c) The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the Company’s register 
Name Number of FPO shares held

Nefco Nominees Pty Ltd 8,980,676
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 8,676,624
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 8,503,872
ANZ Nominees Limited 8,301,625
National Nominees Limited 7,449,766
RBC Dexia Investor Services 6,352,019

(d) Voting rights — all shares hold the same voting rights

(e) 20 Largest Shareholders - Ordinary Shares
Rank Name Number of FPO shares held % held

1 Nefco Nominees Pty Ltd 8,980,676 7.46
2 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 8,676,624 7.16
3 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 8,503,872 7.08
4 ANZ Nominees Limited 8,301,625 6.91
5 National Nominees Limited 7,449,766 6.60
6 RBC Dexia Investor Services 6,352,019 5.27
7 HSBC Custody Nominees Australia Limited 4,498,595 3.66
8 UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 2,861,189 2.42
9 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 2,766,815 2.30
10 Legion Cabs (Trading) Co-Operative Society Limited 2,750,000 2.28
11 Swan Taxis Co-operative Ltd 2,631,004 2.18
12 Bond Street Custodians Limited 1,418,330 1.18
13 Queensland Investments Corporation 1,233,328 1.02
14 Sandhurst Trustees Ltd 1,165,709 0.97
15 Reginald Lionel Kermode 1,150,000 0.95
16 Cumberland Cabs Company Pty Ltd 1,004,593 0.83
17 AMP Life Limited 999,296 0.83
18 UCA Growth Fund Limited 700,000 0.58
19 Invia Custodian Pty Ltd 678,582 0.56
20 Equity Trustees Limited 570,779 0.47

72,692,802 60.72 
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Final Dividends 2008
Record date is 29 September 2008

Dividend payment date is 31 October 2008

Voting Rights
Subject to Cabcharge’s constitution —

(a) at a general meeting —

(I) on a show of hands, every member present has one vote; and

(ii) on a poll, every member present has one vote for each fully paid share held by the member and in respect of which the member is entitled to vote.

(b) at a general meeting each member entitled to vote at a meeting of members may vote —

(I) in person or, where a member is a body corporate, by its representative;

(ii) by not more than two proxies; or

(iii) by not more than two attorneys.

Australian Securities Exchange Listing 
Cabcharge’s Ordinary shares are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) with Sydney being Cabcharge’s home exchange. The stock code
under which the shares trade is CAB. Trading results are published in most large Australian daily newspapers.

Internet
Interim and final results are available on Cabcharge’s Internet home page: (www.cabcharge.com.au).

Annual Report Not Required
Shareholders not wishing to receive the Annual Report, or who are receiving more than one copy, should advise the share registry in writing, quoting their
Shareholder Reference Number or Holder Identification Number. Shareholders will still receive all other mailings. An “Annual Report Not Required” notice
can be obtained from the share registry.

Tax File Numbers
The share registry is obliged to record Tax File Numbers (“TFN”) or exemption details provided by Australian resident shareholders. While it is not
compulsory to provide TFN’s or exemption details, Cabcharge will obliged to deduct withholding tax at the highest marginal rate, plus Medicare levy, for
any unfranked or partially franked dividends, paid to shareholders resident in Australia who have not supplied TFN’s. Further information can be obtained
from the share registry.
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ABN 99 001 958 390

Company Secretary
Ms Sharon Doyle

Registered Office
152–162 Riley Street
East Sydney NSW 2010

Tel: + 61 2 9332 9222
Fax: + 61 2 9361 4248

Internet Address
www.cabcharge.com.au

Auditor
KPMG
10 Shelley Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Share Registry
Postal Address
Link Market Services Limited
Locked Bag A14
Sydney South NSW 1235

Delivery Address
Link Market Services Limited
Level 12, 680 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Corporate Directory
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Strong growth, consistently outstanding results and innovations in
technology – these characteristics continue to define Cabcharge. 

Through the Group’s commitment to delivering quality service
and responding to new challenges and opportunities with
vigour: Cabcharge is indeed, well positioned for the future. 

Annual General Meeting
Melbourne / Sydney Room
Sofitel Sydney Wentworth
61-101 Phillip Street Sydney NSW 2000
Tuesday 18 November 2008 at 11am (Sydney time)

Designed & Produced by Designate Reporting
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